
         Tourism Commission Agenda 
                                                                  Thursday, March 13, 2025, 6:00 PM 
                   Harrigan Centennial Hall, 330 Harbor Drive 

 
Members: Devon Calvin, Ian Dempster, Vaugh Hazel 

Bethany Lowrance, Carol Bryant-Martin, Alana Peterson, Jeremy Plank 
Rachel Roy (ex officio), Amy Ainslie (ex officio) 

 
 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 

II. ROLL CALL 
 

III. CONSIDERATION OF AGENDA 
 

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
         
V. NEW BUSINESS  
 

A. TBMP Discussion  
 

B. 2025 Downtown Traffic Management  
 

C. Review of Draft Visit Sitka 2025-2027 3-Year Strategic Marketing Plan 
 
D. Transit Safety & Efficiency Efforts  

   
 

VI. PERSONS TO BE HEARD (For items ON or OFF the agenda – not to exceed 3 minutes) 
 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 



CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA 
Meeting Minutes  

Tourism Commission 
 
 

Officers: Chair Jeremy Plank; Vice Chair Ian Dempster; and Secretary Carol Bryant-Martin 
Members: Devon Calvin; Vaughn Hazel; Bethany Lowrance; Alana Peterson; and Rachel Roy (Visit Sitka, ex-
officio) 
Staff Liaison: Amy Ainslie, P&CD Director; and Jessica Earnshaw, Deputy Municipal Clerk  
Assembly Liaison: Chris Ystad 

 

 
 

CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA        Page 1 of 2 
 

 DATE: February 6, 2025 6:00 P.M. Harrigan Centennial Hall 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
Deputy Municipal Clerk Jess Earnshaw called the inaugural Sitka Tourism Commission meeting to order at 
6:03 p.m. She noted that the Chair will call the meetings to order once elected by the commission 
members.  

II. ROLL CALL  
          Present: Carol Bryant-Martin; Vaughn Hazel; Bethany Lowrance; Alana Peterson; Jeremy Plank;                        
          Ian Dempster Riley; and Rachel Roy       
          Absent: Devon Calvin (excused) 
          Staff: Amy Ainslie, Planning &Community Development Director; and Jess Earnshaw, Deputy Municipal   
          Clerk  
          Public: Teal West, Downtown Business Association 

III. NEW BUSINESS 
A. Introductions 
      Earnshaw gave an overview of her role with the City and recognized her colleague Amy Ainslie.   
      She asked the Commission to share their name, professional backgrounds, and community affiliations.  
B. Overview of Roberts Rules, Open Meetings Act, Meeting Guidelines 

Deputy Municipal Clerk Jess Earnshaw provided the Commission with an overview of Roberts Rules of 
Order, the Open Meeting Acts, and Meeting Guidelines. 

C. Meeting Intervals/Dates/Times 
Commission members agreed to schedule future meetings on the second Thursdays of the month at 
6:00 p.m. 

D. Election of Officers 
Earnshaw requested the Commission to elect officers. 
Chair: Ian Dempster moved to nominate Jeremy Plank as the Chair. He accepted the nomination. The 
motion passed unanimously by a voice vote.  
Vice Chair: Jeremy Plank moved to nominate Ian Dempster as the Vice Chair. He accepted the 
nomination. The motion passed unanimously by a voice vote. 
Secretary: Ian Dempster moved to nominate Carol Bryant-Martin as the Secretary. She accepted the 
nomination. The motion passed unanimously by a voice vote. 

E. Term Assignments 
Earnshaw explained that since the Sitka Tourism Commission is newly formed, the expiration dates for 
the first terms will need to be staggered in accordance with mandates set forth in Ordinance 2024-21. 
Commissioners volunteered to serve 1 year, 2 year, or three years terms. 
1 Year Term: Devon Calvin; Vaughn Hazel; and Alana Peterson 
2 Year Term: Ian Dempster and Jeremy Plank 
3 Year Term: Carol Bryant-Martin and Bethany Lowrance 



Tourism Commission Meeting Minutes - DRAFT February 6, 2025 
 

 
 

 

CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA        Page 2 of 2 
 

 
F. Review of Existing Tourism-Related Goals, Projects, and Resources 

Ainslie reviewed the list of plans and studies with the Commission and advised the members that she 
would give notice when the resources are available ready to view online. In addition, she indicated that 
a downtown traffic study and parking analysis can be accessed. She acknowledged that while there is 
not a current economic impact study for review, the City included lines items for community sentiment 
and economic impact studies in the budget for the new fiscal year. 

G. Discussion on Near-Term Commission Goals and Priorities 
The commission members discussed strategies for implementing a Tourism Best Management 
Practices (TBMP) program in Sitka, plans to address the top 10 issues that impact tourism in the city, 
and various ways to improve pedestrian safety. 

 
IV. PERSONS TO BE HEARD (For items ON or OFF the agenda and not to exceed 3 minutes) 

Earnshaw recognized Teal West to give words. She thanked the Sitka Tourism Commission members for 
their service and extended an invitation to visit the Downtown Business Association meetings. 

 
V. ADJOURNMENT 

Earnshaw stated that the next meeting will be scheduled for Thursday, March 13, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. at 
Harrigan Centennial Hall. With no further business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 7:38 p.m. 

 
 

Minutes By: Carol Bryant-Martin, Secretary 



 
 

CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA 

  A COAST GUARD CITY 
  
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  Chair Plank and Tourism Commission Members 
   
From:  Amy Ainslie, Planning & Community Development Director  
 
Date:  March 7, 2025 
  
Subject: New Business Items for March 13, 2025  
 
 
Item A: TBMP Discussion  

• Opportunity to discuss potential elements that can be implemented for 2025, and 
forward planning for full implementation in 2026  

• Resource: Tourism Task Force Draft TBMP Guidelines 
 

Item B: 2025 Downtown Traffic Management  

• Review of 2024 Lincoln Street closure plan and municipal operations 
• Discussion/recommendation on altering, cancelling, and/or augmenting closure plans 
• Other traffic/pedestrian safety measures downtown  
• Resources:  2024 Lincoln Street Closures 

Short-Term Tourism Plan Excerpt – Lincoln Street  
2022 Downtown Traffic Study 

 
Item C: Review of Draft Visit Sitka 2025-2027 3-Year Strategic Marketing Plan 

• Opportunity to provide input/comments on the draft 2025-2027 3-Year Strategic 
Marketing Plan as prepared by Visit Sitka.  

• Resource: Draft Plan 
 

Item D: Transit Safety & Efficiency Efforts  
Opportunity for broader discussion on several transit-related issues flagged as priority issues at 
the February 6th meeting including:  

• Bus routes  
• E-bikes  
• Sawmill Creek/Raptor Center crossing  
• Multi-use paths  
• Resources: Reference material for Item B – additional to be added to Tourism 

Commission webpage  



 

 
Sitka TBMP Handbook 3/11/2024 

 

 
 

Sitka’s Draft Tourism Best Practices (TBMP) Program 
 
  
PARTNER HANDBOOK AND PROGRAM GUIDELINES FOR 
SITKA’S VISITOR INDUSTRY 
  
Table of Contents 
 

Introduction                                                  1 

General Agreements for All Sitka TBMP partners      2-4 

Program contacts           4  

Transportation and Vehicles                                                 5-7 

Flightseeing (Fixed Wing, Floatplanes and Helicopter)                                             7-8 

Walking, Hiking, Bicycling & Zipline Tours                                                8-9 

Cruise Ships                                                    9-10 

Marine Tour Operators, Fishing Charters, Water Taxis and Kayak Tours               10       
 
Downtown and Retail                                                                         11 
 
Resources and Appendices—TBD                 11 
 
 
 
 
 



Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 1 -  

Sitka’s Tourism Best Management Practices (TBMP) Program   
Introduction  
Sitka and Baranof Island, Alaska is Lingit Aaní, ancestral homeland of the Tlingit people who 
have been practicing their culture and way of life on these lands and waters for over 10,000 
years. Gunalchéesh to the Tlingit people for their stewardship of this land since time 
immemorial.  
 
The Sitka Tourism Best Management Practices (TBMP) program is modeled after the TBMP 
program first established in Juneau, 25 years ago. Ketchikan and Skagway have also 
modeled their TBMPs after Juneau’s program. The SitkaTBMP is a voluntary compliance 
program for partners and organizations in the City and Borough of Sitka. Our TBMP is 
intended to minimize the impacts of tourism in a manner which addresses both resident and 
industry concerns while maintaining our quality of life and enhancing the visitor experience in 
Sitka.   
These guidelines do not replace applicable city, state, or federal regulations.  
As Sitka’s visitor industry has grown, so have concerns about impacts to the community. By 
actively participating in this voluntary program, participants demonstrate their commitment to 
address key community concerns. 
Partners agree to implement appropriate best practices, including but not limited to the 
recommendations of the TBMP, in their own policies and training of their staff.  

Partners also agree to address issues or concerns raised by other partners, community 
partners and/or the City and Borough and other governmental agencies within a timely 
manner.  
Partners comprise anyone signing on to the plan, including all tour and attractions 
operators, retail businesses serving visitor clientele, restaurants, shuttle, van and taxi 
operators, cruise ship docking facilities and the cruise lines themselves.  
 

TBD: Sitka’s TBMP program is administered by __?__ with oversight and support from the 
Tourism Commission and the municipality and is funded through cruise vessel passenger tax 
revenue. 
  
TBMP participating partners and organizations who successfully complete implementation and 
training requirements will be listed on the TBMP website and included in brochures and other 
promotional materials. Decals will be issued to partners for placement on tour vehicles and 
storefronts. Partners may include the TBMP logo in their own promotion.  

 
General Agreements for All TBMP Partners  
Sitka TBMP partners strive to provide a positive experience for our visitors while minimizing 
impacts to our community. Partners, organizations and individuals who wish to be recognized 
as TBMP compliant will abide by the agreements and standards set forth in the handbook 
and/or posted on a Sitka TBMP website.  



Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 2 -  

 
Partners will be expected to observe the following practices:  
• Conduct business in a legal and ethical manner and not use business practices that 

damage others through association.  
• Emulate the highest standard of customer service.   
• Take responsibility to ensure that visitors and community partners are treated with 

courtesy and respect, in such a way as to leave a positive impression on them.  
• Accurately describe our products and services to address any safety, health related, 

legal or physical restrictions that customers should be aware of and to provide 
complete information on pricing, duration and location of tours and activities.  

• Recognize it is in all our best interests to serve the needs and desires of the customer; 
and if our product is not appropriate, direct them to the service that best meets their 
needs. 

• Strive to be good ambassadors of the community with accurate knowledge of the 
locations of public amenities nearby such as post office, bus stops, museums, 
restrooms, and government buildings.  
  

Training: Partners agree to train all employees on the program objectives and practices and 
to conduct periodic training sessions for employees hired mid-season. Partners will strive to 
conduct business in a manner which exhibits common courtesy throughout the season. 
Employees of participating partners will be required to sign a “TBMP Employee Partnership 
Agreement” certifying that the employee has read, understands and agrees to abide by the 
Tourism Best Management Practices guidelines applicable to his/her job description.   
 
Cultural Protocols: All partners agree to take steps to ensure accuracy and respect 
regarding interpretation of Alaska Native culture and other cultural groups,such as our Filipino 
community by participating in a scheduled training class. This includes fact-based research 
from recognized sources for tour interpretation and disclosure of the origin of items in the sale 
of retail products.   
 
Contact Name: Partners agree to provide the TBMP hotline administrator with a contact 
name, telephone number, fax number and email address.  
  
Work Sessions: Partners agree to participate in periodic work sessions to discuss progress 
made in attaining program goals.  
  
Community Meetings: All TBMP partners agree to send a representative to an annual 
preseason community meeting to:  

• Identify problem areas where traffic and pedestrian congestion creates conflicts. 
• Identify areas of concern to residents. 
• Formulate strategies to mitigate or avoid conflicts in these areas and measure 

the effectiveness of the mitigation strategies.  
Partners also agree to attend a postseason community meeting to review the summer 
and note opportunities for improvement. 
  



Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 3 -  

Response to TBMP Hotline: Partners agree to respond within 3 business days to calls and 
emails received via the Tourism Best Management Practices Hotline. Partners will provide the 
TBMP Hotline Administrator with a summary of their response. Callers will be asked to 
communicate as much information as possible, including name of participant business and/or 
staff member, description of the aircraft, watercraft, or vehicle, vehicle number if applicable, 
and date and approximate time of observation. Callers will also be asked to leave a name, 
phone number, and/or email address so the partners may respond. Callers are also 
encouraged to provide positive feedback via the hotline to recognize partners who are making 
a difference by following the guidelines and operating their business in a courteous and 
neighborhood-friendly manner.  
  
Self-monitoring: All partners agree to improve their self-monitoring efforts through 
collaboration and encourage other partners who may not be observing the TBMP guidelines to 
improve their own compliance. These actions honor the spirit of TBMP and ultimately help all 
companies reduce tourism impacts in the community.  
 

Ongoing Training of Employees; Partners agree to provide periodic training and 
coaching for their employees, to reinforce compliance with the guidelines that pertain to their 
operations.  
  
 Litter and Recycling: All TBMP partners are expected to be familiar with and comply with 
the anti-litter ordinance detailed in Sitka’s General Code, Chapter 9.12.  
Partners are strongly encouraged to commit to a recycling program which is effective for their 
individual size and type of business. The City and Borough of Sitka and commercial property 
owners are asked to ensure there are adequate receptacles throughout the community for 
proper disposal of smoking material and trash.   
  
Cleaning and Sanitation Protocols: All TBMP partners agree to maintain and update as 
needed, procedures for staff and guests to maintain infection control and mitigate the potential 
transmission of highly contagious viral diseases such as Norovirus Gastroenteritis and 
COVID-19 coronavirus. Partners will train staff and monitor policy implementation and agree 
to comply with all applicable local, state and federal regulations.   
 
Wildlife Protocols: All partners agree to: 

● Dispose of and secure trash in a manner which does not attract wildlife.   
● Report bear sightings to the police department. 
● Not to feed or bait* wildlife of any form and comply with the Sitka General Code 

Chapter 8.08.050 Fighting or Baiting of Animals. 
● To be observant and watch for signs of distress as recommended by Alaska 

Department of Fish and Game guidelines on wildlife harassment.  
  

Alaska’s Smoke Free Workplace Laws: All partners comply with state laws pertaining to 
smoking in and around the workplace.  
  
Accessibility: To better serve the number of visitors arriving in Sitka each year with limited 
mobility and/or visual or hearing impairments, TBMP partners agree to establish “best 



Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 4 -  

practice” objectives to provide these visitors with a quality experience. SAIL (SE Alaska 
Independent Living) provides the following suggestions:  

● Consider how best to make accommodation for customers with limited mobility and/or a 
visual or hearing impairment, as appropriate to their operation.  

● Include accessibility information in tour/activity descriptions and have it readily available 
for those seeking details (i.e. how many steps? How long a walk? Are necessary service 
companions given complimentary space?).  

● Train all employees in accessibility awareness, with focus on how best to accommodate 
requests for various types of assistance (mobility, hearing, visual, etc.), how to provide 
good customer service to those with disabilities or impairments, and when to seek 
additional help in doing so.  

● Ensure clearances for wheelchairs or walkers. 
  
Privacy and Security: Partners will train staff to ensure that customer data including but not 
limited to personal identification, credit/debit card numbers and security codes and other 
sensitive materials are handled with care to minimize potential identity theft and to safeguard 
privacy.  
  
Emergency Procedures: Partners will ensure staff are trained to aid customers in the 
event of an emergency and understand policies and procedures.  
  

TBMP Program Contacts- TBD— Add contacts  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 5 -  

 
Transportation and Vehicles 
Commercial passenger vehicles are required to comply with Sitka Municipal Code ordinances,  
Alaska State Administrative Statutes and US DOT regulations that pertain to the operation of 
commercial vehicles on public roadways. For purposes of this program, vehicles include motor 
coaches, buses, mini-buses, limos, vans, trolleys, taxis, motorcycles, airporters. (Residents 
should remember that tour vehicles are sometimes used for non-tour activities, including 
charters, government service contracts, school field trips and charity work. While this program 
focuses on tour activities, operators agree to conduct all activities in a courteous manner and 
to emphasize these guidelines during pre-season training.  
 
School Zone Safety Protocols: All companies agree to pay special attention to watching 
for children, when approaching crosswalks, encountering stopped school buses and observing 
school zone speed limits. 
 
Downtown Traffic/Staging: All companies utilizing staging areas should be aware of times 
when congestion into and out of these lots will be at peak level. Dispatchers and drivers will 
assist in promoting efficient traffic flow in the area by managing vehicle movements in a 
courteous manner and by yielding to other vehicles and users as necessary.  
  
Traffic Flow: Drivers agree not to impede normal traffic flow by slowing down or stopping for 
sightseeing opportunities except in designated turnouts and will not pull over on bike lanes or 
walking paths or on the shoulder of roads. Drivers will be especially attentive to not slow down 
or stop when transiting intersections. 
     
Empty Tour Vehicles: Drivers agree to not park in designated loading zones unless they 
are loading or unloading guests on tour.  
   
Vehicle fluids and Emissions: Drivers of ALL VEHICLES agree to monitor any engine oil 
and/or fluid leaks and excess emissions/ black smoke when operating throughout the road 
system. This includes monitoring at all staging/loading zones, docks and attractions, as well 
as venues. Should any vehicle exhibit a leak of a substantial nature or visible emissions in 
excess, the operator should be prepared to immediately pull the vehicle from service until 
repaired. Any vehicle exhibiting signs of a mechanical failure should pull over immediately at 
the next safe location for repairs.  This is to ensure vehicle failures do not block public rights-
of-way.  
  
Engine Idling: Drivers of ALL VEHICLES agree to turn engines off at every reasonable 
opportunity when loading and unloading passengers and/or when staging in the various 
loading zones, staging areas and tour venues throughout Sitka. Vehicles should not sit with 
engines idling while actively loading, unloading, or waiting for passengers to arrive. Engines 
should be started only when the vehicle is ready to move, and thereafter, only when the 
vehicle is in motion or in traffic. Exceptions include safety related issues, including vehicles 
that may need to idle in order to defog windshields and windows, situations where vehicles 



Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 6 -  

with air brakes may need to idle to build air pressure or when weather requires engines to 
remain on for guest comfort.  
  
Noise Abatement: Drivers of ALL VEHICLES agree to NOT use Compression 
Braking (commonly known as Jake Braking, Engine Braking, etc.) in the City and 
Borough of Sitka, except in emergency situations. 
 
Bells and Public Address (PA) systems should not be utilized in any tours unless the noise is 
restricted to the cabin of the vehicle. 
 
Transiting Residential Neighborhoods: Drivers agree to avoid transiting residential 
neighborhoods within the City and Borough of Sitka unless conducting a specific pick-up or 
drop-off in the immediate vicinity, including Katlian and Jeff Davis Streets.   
  
ADA Zones Not for Staging: Drivers utilizing equipment with a wheelchair lift will use the 
designated ADA zones only for active loading and unloading and not for staging of vehicles.  
  
Safety Backing: All motor coaches, buses, mini-buses and vans will take special care when 
backing out of loading/unloading zones. When preparing to back, drivers should be aware of 
the backup beepers and the sound they make and should strive to spend as little time as 
possible in reverse. Drivers should only shift into reverse when they are ready to commence 
backing to minimize beeper sounds.  
  
Safety on Roadways: Drivers will take caution when encountering pedestrians, cyclists, 
and animals on narrow roadways, bike lanes and school zones throughout the city and 
companies will take this into consideration during their driver training programs. Drivers should 
strive to operate in a manner which exhibits common courtesy throughout their daily travels. 
Extra caution when approaching crosswalks. All drivers should be trained on the 
changing/reduced speed limits throughout the downtown and highway areas.    
Operators are required to use headsets or Boom mics and NOT hand held microphones.     
By law and in the interest of safety, all operators agree to abide by Sitka’s no cell phone 
policy when their drivers are operating a vehicle except in the case of an emergency.   
 
Resource Scheduling: Operators agree to assign vehicles to scheduled tours and transfers 
in a manner which efficiently maximizes the use of all vehicles on duty. The number of 
vehicles and type of equipment will be assigned to a tour or transfer based on capacity needs 
on a given day. Operators will collaborate with partners/vendors to find opportunities to 
minimize the number of vehicles on the road whenever possible.  
  
Training of Schedulers: Operators will train all schedulers to take advantage of synergies 
that are present in the Sitka tourism transportation industry. Schedulers should strive to better 
serve their constituents and community stakeholders by minimizing vehicles on the road 
whenever possible.  
  



Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 7 -  

Crossing Guards: Crossing Guards may be positioned in strategic locations in order to 
promote safety and facilitate vehicle and pedestrian movement throughout the downtown 
corridor. TBMP members should be mindful of their presence and obey their instructions.  
  
Identifiers for All Shuttle and Tour Vehicles: Operators agree to ensure all vehicles are 
easily identifiable with the company name clearly visible on both sides, from a reasonable 
distance and even while the vehicle is moving. 
 
Local Recreation Areas: Drivers agree not to use Sandy Beach, __?__and __?__ as tour 
destinations.  Define potential local use only areas. See Recommendations. 
   
As always, Operators are responsible for abiding by Alaska State Statutes governing operation 
of vehicles on state roadways including but not limited to stopping, standing or parking on 
highways, unlawful obstruction or blocking traffic, and pedestrians on highways.  
  
 
Flightseeing (Fixed Wing, Floatplanes & Helicopter):  
Flightseeing operations are subject to Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) regulations and 
operational requirements. Mt. Edgecumbe landing trips are also subject to US Forest Service 
permit requirements. Although the following guidelines are designed to minimize noise, safety 
and flight operations take precedence over noise abatement procedures. Operators will 
conduct pre-season training in a manner which emphasizes these guidelines.  
  
Routes and Aircraft Identifiers: Operators agree to provide the following to TBMP 
administrator who will make the information available to interested partners of the public: 

● Established flight routes 
● Common factors influencing route choice, such as weather, turbulence and traffic.  
● Aircraft colors or other distinguishing characteristics useful in identifying individual 

operators. 
  
Seaplane Floats: Commercial use is permitted from the seaplane float. Operations for 
commercial use of seaplane float is managed and regulated by the Sitka Harbor Department 
 
Altitude: Operators follow voluntarily agreed upon routes for tour flights and maintain 
minimum altitudes of 1,500 feet for helicopters operating above residential areas, except 
during takeoff, landing or when deviations are required by weather or traffic.  
   
Fly Neighborly: Helicopter operators agree to conduct flightseeing tours in accordance with 
the Helicopter Association International (HAI) Fly Neighborly Program. The Fly Neighborly 
Program is a voluntary noise reduction program designed to be implemented worldwide by 
local helicopter operators, large and small. Additional information on this program can be 
viewed on the HAI website— www.rotor.com 
  
Operating Times: Operators agree not to schedule flightseeing tour departures before 7:30 
a.m. or after 7:00 p.m. and to complete all tour flights by 8:00 p.m. Operators agree to 



Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 8 -  

minimize tour support operations out-side of these hours. Operators agree to take the same 
care to minimize their impacts during non-tour flight operations.  
 
Wildlife Viewing:  Operators conducting air tours within the Sitka area agree to minimize 
impacts to backcountry users and wildlife. Operators will not circle, hover, harass or decrease 
altitude for wildlife viewing. Flightseeing operators also agree to avoid key mountain goat 
kidding areas.  
 
 
Walking, Hiking, Bicycling Tours 
Commercial use of public trails may be permitted on some municipal, State Parks, National 
Forest, and National Park lands. All commercial use of public land requires permitting. 
  
Permitted use: Commercial operators are responsible for understanding public land 
ownership and obtaining permits from each agency. Operators agree to follow group size 
regulations and avoid crowding on trails. 
 
Identifiers for Tour Guides: All operators agree to ensure tour guides are easily identifiable 
and that company names are visible on guides’ attire and company vehicles. 
 
Peer enforcement: All operators agree to report unpermitted commercial use to the 
appropriate public land manager. A list of permitted operators is available from each agency. 
  
Trail Conditions & Maintenance: Operators agree to report trail conditions and trail abuse 
to appropriate regulatory agencies. Operators agree to educate guides on basics of trail 
maintenance standards to adequately detect emerging issues of erosion and damage. 
Operators using public trails agree to annually dedicate at least one paid day for at least one 
guide to support a trail maintenance project, led by the agency or Sitka Trail Works.     
 
Noise Abatement: All tour operators agree to monitor the volume and use of their 
microphones and outside speakers in a manner which reduces their impact on others.  
  
Resource Protection: Operators agree to protect the environment by encouraging clients 
do not litter, walk off trail, cut switchbacks, or otherwise damage vegetation and soils adjacent 
to trails. Operators agree to train guides in Leave No Trace principles and  
encourage an ethic of care for the land. 
 
State Highways (Halibut Point Rd and Sawmill Creek Rd): Cycling guides agree to 
instruct clients to use bike lanes and ride single file to the right side of the right lane. A guide 
will always be in the lead to make sure that clients descend hills at a safe speed. Efforts will be 
made to keep groups as close together as safely possible.  
 
Bikes and E-bikes: Operators agree to provide each bike rider with a card listing safety 
precautions and biking rules of the road, including hand signals for bikers. Operators agree to 



Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 9 -  

install bells on ebikes to alert pedestrians and pets of their approach. Operators will encourage 
riders to use the bike lanes and travel on the right-hand side of the road. Operators will 
encourage bikers to wear helmets and other safety gear, such as bright colors or reflective 
clothing.  
       
Safety on Roadways: Drivers will take caution when encountering pedestrians,  cyclists, 
and animals on narrow roadways, bike lanes and school zones throughout the city and 
companies will take this into consideration during their driver training programs. Drivers should 
strive to operate in a manner which exhibits common courtesy throughout their daily travels, 
such as paying attention to biker hand signals, slowing down and giving at least three feet of 
space.  
 
Trailhead Parking: Operators agree to use all trailhead parking in a courteous and 
responsible manner and to pay special attention to independent users.  

 
Yield to Other Users: Guides agree to instruct clients to yield to all other users on 
commercially used trails.  

 
Sitka National HIstoric Park: In order to keep the Park safe for all users, riding bikes or e-
bikes on trails within Sitka National Park is expressly prohibited by Park rules.  

  
 
Cruise Ships  
Emission Standards: All cruise vessels agree to comply with the Marine Vessel Visible 
Emissions Standards (18 AAC 50-.070) and take all available and reasonable steps to 
minimize stack effluents on approach to, departure from and while in port in Sitka.  
 
Southeast Alaska Voluntary Waterway Guide: All Cruise ships agree to follow the 
guidelines included in the Marine Safety Task Force’s Southeast Alaska Voluntary Waterway 
Guide. 
 
P.A. Announcements, Signals and Outdoor Entertainment: Cruise Line Agencies of 
Alaska (CLAA), Cruise Line Industry Association-Alaska (CLIA Alaska) and individual cruise 
lines will work to minimize vessel announcements, whistle signals, and outdoor entertainment 
(movies and use of music, bands or DJ) while docked or anchored within the City of Sitka. 
Cruise ships are also asked to monitor their outside speakers, announcements and 
entertainment on approach to and departure from Sitka. Cruise Line Agencies and cruise lines 
will ensure that shipboard staff understand the importance of this specific guideline. Certain 
signals and announcements are necessary and required by the US Coast Guard or are 
necessary for safety reasons.  
 
Courteous use of vessel floats: Cruise ship tender operators agree to use the designated 
floats at Crescent Harbor or at the bridge dock in a safe and responsible manner. Tender 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/portals/5/pub/2019SoutheastAlaskaVoluntaryWaterwayGuide.pdf
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/portals/5/pub/2019SoutheastAlaskaVoluntaryWaterwayGuide.pdf


Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 10 -  

operators also agree to minimize their wake on approach to and in the harbors, and to operate 
in a manner which exhibits common courtesy to all others.  
  
Port No Wake Zone: Cruise ships and their lightering tenders over 23 feet in length are 
required to comply with No Wake requirements in 33 CFR Alaska; navigation. Operators are 
responsible for their wakes.  
  
 
Marine Tour Operators, Fishing Charters, Water Taxis and Kayak 
Tours  
Marine tour operators and charter/sportfishing operators will take all available and reasonable 
steps to minimize impacts to coastal residents and other vessel operators. Vessel operators will 
strive to minimize the impacts of their wake on other watercraft, docks and beaches throughout 
Sitka area coastal waterways, including popular crabbing and recreational boating grounds.   
  
Rules of the Road: Marine tour operators agree to adhere to all applicable USCG rules of 
the road during operation. 
 
Noise Abatement: Marine tour operators agree to monitor the volume and use of their 
onboard PA systems and outside speakers in a manner which reduces the impact on 
residents and recreational boaters.  
  
Marine Mammal Viewing: Marine Operators will follow all applicable federal regulations 
regarding marine mammal viewing and actively participate in Whale Sense, whom establishes 
guidelines surrounding the viewing of marine mammals. To that regard, each operator will 
ensure the following: 

● Become a member of the Whale Sense organization 
● Ensure all licensed operators have conducted the required annual training as part of the 

whale sense program. 
● Ensure all standard operating procedures are in line with the guidelines and regulations 

established by whale sense. 

The link to whale sense is: https://whalesense.org/ 
Whale Sense's regulations are here: https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2016-09-
08/pdf/2016-21278.pdf 
  
Port No Wake Zone: Marine sightseeing/tour vessels and charter fishing boats over 23 feet 
in length are required to comply with 33 CFR Alaska; navigation. Operators are responsible for 
their wakes.  
  
Vessel Engine Idling: All marine vessel operators (including charter fishing captains) agree 
to minimize engine idling at every reasonable opportunity. This includes loading and unloading 
of passengers and/or when standing-by in vessel loading zones. In the interest of reducing 
emissions, whenever it is deemed safe and prudent by vessel captains, engines should be 
turned off. Engines should not be started until the vessel is ready to get underway.  

https://whalesense.org/
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2016-09-08/pdf/2016-21278.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2016-09-08/pdf/2016-21278.pdf


Sitka TBMP Handbook  3/11/2024 
 pg. - 11 -  

  

 

Downtown & Retail Partners 
All partners agree to comply with City of Sika Municipal Code Chapter 14.12 and 14.16 
regarding commercial sign and advertising devices and obstruction of sidewalks, as applicable.  

Buildings and Grounds:  Merchants will be responsible for keeping their locations neat and 
welcoming, to include monitoring sidewalks immediately in front of their establishment, 
sweeping as needed and picking up and properly disposing of litter. Merchants will not place 
their business’ accumulated daily refuse into street-side, public refuse containers.   
  
Seasonal merchants: In order to promote safety and a welcoming feel to downtown during 
the winter months are asked to utilize ways to brighten up their storefronts in the off season 
when the business is shut down and refrain from covering windows with brown paper. 
Consider keeping display windows lit (LED lighting).   
  
Sales Tactics: Merchants and their employees agree to: 

● Cooperate with municipal employees including but not limited to police, downtown 
ambassadors, crossing guards, public works, planning department and revenue staff.  

● Refrain from handing out flyers or leaflets outside of their place of business and not 
engaging in sidewalk hawking or any other disruptive or aggressive physical behavior in 
order to lure potential customers.   

● Refrain from displaying misleading signage or advertising and agree not to post stickers 
or signage in their windows indicating “cruise ship preferred or guaranteed shopping 
venue.”   

● Refrain from reproducing and displaying logos for any cruise line without the line’s 
express written permission.   

● Refrain from using false advertising (going out of business, closing soon, etc.) as a 
sales tactic.  

  
Appendices- Resources  TBD —add relevant resources, contacts and toolkits. 
 
  



 
 

CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA 

  A COAST GUARD CITY 
  
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  Mayor Eisenbeisz and Assembly Members 
 
Thru:  John Leach, Municipal Administrator  
   
From:  Amy Ainslie, Planning & Community Development Director 
 
Date:  March 20, 2024 
  
Subject: Summer Tourism Operations – Lincoln Street Closures  
 
 
In accordance with the Short-Term Tourism Plan, CBS staff is working to implement its 
summer tourism operations. 2024 operations will largely be consistent with 2023 
including:  

• Lincoln Street will be closed to vehicular traffic between Lake and Katlian 
Streets on days when 5,000 or more passengers are scheduled to be in town 
(based on the lower-berth capacity published on the Cruise Line Agencies of 
Alaska calendar). No parking will begin at 9AM, and the street will be closed 
to vehicular traffic from 10AM – 4PM. Street signage and closure procedures 
will remain the same.  

• The standard-size portable restroom unit will be placed on Lincoln Street near 
the intersection of Barracks Street. As the access stairs utilize the roadway, 
the restroom will only be open when the street is closed. CBS will continue to 
make the restroom available for rental in conjunction with other community 
events in which Lincoln Street is closed.  

• Communications will also be consistent with 2023, including a published 
cruise ship calendar with street closures noted, email notifications, and a 
phone line and email address available for citizen questions and concerns.  

• Increased trash service in the downtown area.   
 
Additionally, staff will be looking to augment the temporary streets crew with staff 
positions dedicated to pedestrian safety along Harbor Drive and at the Lake/Lincoln 
intersection. Staff is also continuing to advocate for additional improvements to traffic 
flow at the intersection, including striping and signage, and work proactively on plans for 
4th of July to better preserve local festivities. The FY24 budget includes appropriations 
for these expenses.  



4

6

2 5

3

7

11
12

13

14

8

9

1

10

15

BARRICADES AND SIGNS TABLE
# TYPE QUANTITY DESCRIPTION
1 BARRICADE 4 STOP ROAD CLOSED
2 BARRICADE 1 STOP ROAD CLOSED
3 SIGN 1 ONE WAY DO NOT ENTER
4 SIGN 1 ONE WAY DO NOT ENTER
5 SIGN 1 ONE WAY; NO RIGHT TURN
6 BARRICADE 3 STOP ROAD CLOSED
7 BARRICADE 4 STOP ROAD CLOSED & LOADING ZONE
8 SIGN 1 STOP NO OUTLET
9 BARRICADE 2 STOP ROAD CLOSED

10 SIGN (A-FRAME) 1 NO OUTLET
11 BARRICADE 2 STOP ROAD CLOSED
12 BARRICADE 1 STOP ROAD CLOSED
13 BARRICADE 3 STOP ROAD CLOSED
14* BARRICADE 5 STOP ROAD CLOSED
15 SIGN 1 CLOSED TO THRU TRAFFIC

*NOTE: ALL EXCEPT #14 ARE 1 SIGN PER 1 BARRICADE. #14 WILL REQUIRE ONLY 3 SIGNS ON 5
BARRICADES.

1. LINCOLN STREET CLOSURE

HALF-SIZE SCALE: 1" = 120'

City and Borough of Sitka

TEL (907) 747-1804     FAX (907) 747-3158
100 LINCOLN STREET  SITKA, ALASKA 99835

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

1 3

LINCOLN STREET

CLOSURE
TOURISM

HARBOR WAY TO LAKE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
KATLIAN ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOR WY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLN ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARRACKS ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMERICAN ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOR DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLN ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWARD ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAKSOUTOFF ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTMARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATHEDRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY HALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIONEER HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
WELLS FARGO

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHRIM BANK

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEREO NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLISEUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIBRARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASTLE HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ICON LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTROOMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARBAGE BINS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO PARKING 9AM TO 4PM TOW AWAY ZONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
180

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
07.27.2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
lincoln-st-closure.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
JJH

AutoCAD SHX Text
RV



BARRICADES AND SIGNS TABLE
# TYPE QUANTITY DESCRIPTION
1 BARRICADE 4 STOP ROAD CLOSED
2 BARRICADE 1 STOP ROAD CLOSED
3 SIGN 1 ONE WAY DO NOT ENTER
4 SIGN 1 ONE WAY DO NOT ENTER
5 SIGN 1 ONE WAY; NO RIGHT TURN
6 BARRICADE 3 STOP ROAD CLOSED
7 BARRICADE 4 STOP ROAD CLOSED & LOADING ZONE
8 SIGN 1 STOP NO OUTLET
9 BARRICADE 2 STOP ROAD CLOSED

10 SIGN (A-FRAME) 1 NO OUTLET
11 BARRICADE 2 STOP ROAD CLOSED
12 BARRICADE 1 STOP ROAD CLOSED
13 BARRICADE 3 STOP ROAD CLOSED
14* BARRICADE 5 STOP ROAD CLOSED
15 SIGN 1 CLOSED TO THRU TRAFFIC

*NOTE: ALL EXCEPT #14 ARE 1 SIGN PER 1 BARRICADE. #14 WILL REQUIRE ONLY 3 SIGNS ON 5
BARRICADES.

4

6

2 5

3

1

2. LINCOLN STREET CLOSUREHALF-SIZE SCALE: 1" = 60'

KATLIAN ST TO AMERICAN ST
City and Borough of Sitka

TEL (907) 747-1804     FAX (907) 747-3158
100 LINCOLN STREET  SITKA, ALASKA 99835

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

2 3

LINCOLN STREET

CLOSURE
TOURISM

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARRACKS ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATHEDRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIONEER HOME

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY HALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
KATLIAN ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLN ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOR WY

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMERICAN ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
RACE ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWARD ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATCH LINE (SEE SHEET 3)

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
07.27.2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
lincoln-st-closure.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
JJH

AutoCAD SHX Text
RV



BARRICADES AND SIGNS TABLE
# TYPE QUANTITY DESCRIPTION
1 BARRICADE 4 STOP ROAD CLOSED
2 BARRICADE 1 STOP ROAD CLOSED
3 SIGN 1 ONE WAY DO NOT ENTER
4 SIGN 1 ONE WAY DO NOT ENTER
5 SIGN 1 ONE WAY; NO RIGHT TURN
6 BARRICADE 3 STOP ROAD CLOSED
7 BARRICADE 4 STOP ROAD CLOSED & LOADING ZONE
8 SIGN 1 STOP NO OUTLET
9 BARRICADE 2 STOP ROAD CLOSED

10 SIGN (A-FRAME) 1 NO OUTLET
11 BARRICADE 2 STOP ROAD CLOSED
12 BARRICADE 1 STOP ROAD CLOSED
13 BARRICADE 3 STOP ROAD CLOSED
14* BARRICADE 5 STOP ROAD CLOSED
15 SIGN 1 CLOSED TO THRU TRAFFIC

*NOTE: ALL EXCEPT #14 ARE 1 SIGN PER 1 BARRICADE. #14 WILL REQUIRE ONLY 3 SIGNS ON 5
BARRICADES.

7

11 12

13 14

8

9

10

15

3. LINCOLN STREET CLOSUREHALF-SIZE SCALE: 1" = 60'

MAKSOUTOFF ST TO LAKE ST

City and Borough of Sitka

TEL (907) 747-1804     FAX (907) 747-3158
100 LINCOLN STREET  SITKA, ALASKA 99835

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

3 3

LINCOLN STREET

CLOSURE
TOURISM

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAKSOUTOFF ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOR DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTMARK HOTEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHRIM BANK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WELLS FARGO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATHEDRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEREO NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLN ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWARD ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIBRARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOR DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATCH LINE (SEE SHEET 2)

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
07.27.2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
lincoln-st-closure.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
JJH

AutoCAD SHX Text
RV



Lincoln Street Closures
Barricade Setup



PEDESTRIAN SIDE TRAFFIC SIDE

Lincoln and Lake



PEDESTRIAN SIDE TRAFFIC SIDE

Cathedral Way



PEDESTRIAN SIDE

Northrim Bank

TRAFFIC SIDE



PEDESTRIAN SIDE TRAFFIC SIDE

American Street



PEDESTRIAN SIDE TRAFFIC SIDE

Barracks Street



PEDESTRIAN SIDE TRAFFIC SIDE

Maksutoff and Harbor



PEDESTRIAN SIDE TRAFFIC SIDE

Maksutoff and Lincoln



PEDESTRIAN SIDE TRAFFIC SIDE

Wells Fargo



PEDESTRIAN SIDE TRAFFIC SIDE

First National Bank Alaska



PEDESTRIAN SIDE TRAFFIC SIDE

Lincoln and Katlian



SHORT-TERM TOURISM PLAN 
 

15 

 

 
LINCOLN STREET 
 
The section of Lincoln Street from Lake Street to Katlian Avenue contains the majority of downtown 
retail stores, restaurants, churches, and historic sites. This area is beloved by locals and visitors alike 
for its authentic, small-town feel. Given its importance, discussion of plans for Lincoln Street took 
place throughout the planning process.  
 
A level of service (LOS) analysis was completed to better understand the capacity limitations of the 
pedestrian space on Lincoln Street. As listed on the table below, different levels of service indicate 
the speed, freedom of movement, and likelihood of pedestrian-to-pedestrian collisions.  

• LOS A indicates total free movement, at any speed, and almost no likelihood of bumping into 
another person.  

• LOS F is akin to a people slowly shuffling in a queue, with no freedom to choose speed or 
direction of movement. Even at this extremely low level of service, the sidewalk space on 
Lincoln Street can only accommodate about 1600 pedestrians.  

• Higher levels of service providing a more pleasant pedestrian experience are only possible in 
the 500-800 pedestrian range.  

After reviewing the level of service analysis, it became apparent to the Planning Commission that 
sidewalk space alone on this stretch of Lincoln Street cannot comfortably support our forecasted 
visitor numbers. The full description of each level of service is available in the appendix.  
 
 

Lincoln Street Assumptions for LOS Analysis 
Driving Lane Width (x2) 12 ft.  
Parking Lane Width (x2) 8 ft. 
Sidewalk Width (x2) 5 ft.  
Length of Street 1,300 ft. 
Total Square Footage  65,000 s.f. 

 
  Pedestrians supported at each LOS 

 Total 
pedestrian 

S.F. available 
LOS A LOS B LOS C LOS D LOS E LOS F 

No closure – 
sidewalk space only 13,000 213 317 520 813 1,444 1,625 

 
 

 
Staff reviewed and analyzed several options; some were options proposed in the Gateway 
Plan and others were a result of public comment/staff generation – all are described and 
detailed below. The first five options presented were studied, but ultimately not recommended 
by staff for consideration.  Staff review included Planning, Public Works, Police, and Fire 
departments. Recommended options start on page 19.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



SHORT-TERM TOURISM PLAN 
 

16 

 

 
Studied Options - Not Recommended 
 

 
   

Gateway Plan Option 1 
 
Pros 
• Maintains vehicular access to downtown amenities 
• Could maintain downtown parking  
 
Cons 
• Funnels traffic to substandard routes (Seward & 
American)  
• Does not make optimal use of Harbor Drive 
• Does not create more space for pedestrians on the 
west end of Lincoln where more is needed 
• Would be confusing as a temporary solution (i.e. if not 
in place consistently day-to-day during the season or as 
a built design)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gateway Plan Option 2 
 
Pros 
• Maintains vehicular access to downtown amenities  
• Could maintain downtown parking 
• Removes traffic from in front of St. Michael’s 
 
Cons 
• Funnels traffic to substandard routes (Seward & 
Cathedral, American & Barracks). Cathedral Way lacks 
adequate width to be two-way without major 
redesign/loss of parking  
• Does not make optimal use of Harbor Drive 
• Does not create more space for pedestrians on the 
west end of Lincoln where it is needed 
• Would be confusing as a temporary solution (i.e. if not 
in place consistently day-to day during the season or as 
a built design) 
 
 
 
 
 



SHORT-TERM TOURISM PLAN 
 

17 

 

 
 
 
 

 
Gateway Plan Option 3 

 
Pros 
• Maintains vehicular access to downtown amenities 
• Could maintain some downtown parking  
 
Cons 
• Funnels traffic to substandard routes (Seward & 
Cathedral). Cathedral Way lacks adequate width to be 
two-way without major redesign/loss of parking 
• Does not work well as a temporary (rather than built) 
solution – traffic would have to cross lanes and go the 
“wrong way” around the church.  
• In order to keep Cathedral, American, and Barracks 
open, traffic would have to cross pedestrian spaces 
which can exacerbate bottlenecks at these intersections 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Overall, the downtown traffic designs as proposed in the Sitka Gateway Plan are more suited to 
permanent/built alterations of streets and traffic flows in the downtown area as opposed to temporary 
solutions created with signage, barricades, cones, etc. None are suitable for regular mobilization and 
demobilization if flexibility based on daily passenger count is desired.  
 
Staff considered ways that the Gateway Plan recommendations could be modified to better suit a 
temporary/short-term option. Those concepts are presented on the next page, though neither are 
recommended options.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SHORT-TERM TOURISM PLAN 
 

18 

 

 
Modified Gateway Options 1 and 2 
 

Pros 
• Maintains vehicular 
access to bank drive-thrus 
• Could maintain some 
downtown parking 
• Opens pedestrian space 
on the west end of Lincoln 
 
Cons 
• Adds left-turn traffic to 
Lake/Lincoln intersection 
• Intensive to mobilize and 
demobilize regularly 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Modified Gateway Option 3 
 

Pros 
• Maintains vehicular 
access on bank drive-thru 
and pharmacy side of street 
• Maintains some downtown 
parking 
• Opens pedestrian/ 
amenity/vending space in 
west bound lane 
 
Cons 
• Adds left turn traffic at 
Lake/Lincoln intersection 
• More streets (Cathedral, 
American, Barracks) either 
need to be closed or will 
have to cut across                                                  
pedestrian space  

 



SHORT-TERM TOURISM PLAN 
 

19 

 

Studied Options - Recommended  
 

 
Full Closure Option 

Description 
• Lincoln Street is closed to vehicles from the Lake/Lincoln Intersection to the Lincoln/Katlian 

Intersection 
• Feeder routes (Barracks, American, Maksoutoff, Cathedral, and other unnamed alleys) 

blocked from entry 
• Closures could be on a consistent schedule (M-F) or based on daily passenger count  

 
Pros 

• Allows maximum pedestrian space and clearly separates pedestrians from vehicles 
• Opens maximum spaces for amenities (benches, water stations, garbage cans, potentially 

vending, etc.)  
• Equitable for both ends/sides of Lincoln Street merchants/entities 

 
Cons  

• Maximum loss of parking  
• Maximum impact on vehicular access to locally demanded services (primarily pharmacy and 

bank drive-thrus) 
• Complicates Pioneer Home emergency access 
• Necessitates new downtown stop for The Ride 
• Congestion remains around Totem Square/end of Lincoln 



SHORT-TERM TOURISM PLAN 
 

20 

 

One-Way Option 

Description 
• Lincoln Street remains open to vehicular traffic one-way westbound  
• Pedestrian space and amenity/vending staging can take place in the eastbound traffic/parking 

lanes. Amenities/vending could potentially be staged for the whole season. This would 
decrease labor needs for daily mobilization/demobilization and allow locals and independent 
travelers to partake in off-hours 

• “Vehicle crossing designations” available at bank drive-thrus  
• A temporary median would be needed to separate pedestrians and vehicles  
• Pull-in parking spaces designated near churches  
• Would be in place all season (too labor/storage intensive to mobilize/demobilize daily) 

 
Pros 

• Allows more vehicular access to Lincoln Street while reducing pedestrian and vehicle conflict 
• Maintains vehicular access to downtown amenities & use of bank drive-thrus 
• Lower loss of parking  
• Provides for better emergency access to Pioneer Home 
• Possible reduction in jaywalking due to median barriers  

 
Cons  

• Less space opened for pedestrians and other amenities  
• Vehicles and pedestrians still intermingled to some degree 
• Necessitates new downtown stop for The Ride 
• Congestion remains around Totem Square/end of Lincoln 
• North side of street gets vehicular access but less pedestrian space, vice versa for the south  



SHORT-TERM TOURISM PLAN 
 

21 

 

 
 
A   Hybrid Option  was also proposed as a recommended option. Lincoln could be fully closed when 
needed (perhaps based on passenger volume) but staged to re-open as the One-Way Option. This 
would allow for amenities and potential vending to be staged in the east bound lane for the whole 
season and not have to demobilize when the street is reopened. This provides more flexibility to 
accommodate moderate and high passenger count days. However, it comes with the pros and cons 
of both options when in place and would be more labor intensive than the One-Way Option alone.  
 
A  Full Closure Modification  was also sketched to address accessibility for bank drive-thrus. The 
design below allows one-way traffic up Maksoutoff St., in part of the eastbound lane of Lincoln, and 
then directs traffic up the unnamed alley between 315 and 321 Lincoln. This would create proper 
vehicle alignment to utilize all three of the downtown bank drive-thrus, accommodate for ADA access 
from Lincoln Street, and it would also open the opportunity to add pull-in parking along Maksoutoff 
Street in the unused lane. However, the crossing from the eastbound lane to the westbound lane to 
access the alley will be difficult to design. Traffic movement onto Seward Street will increase use of 
the uncontrolled intersection at Seward and Lake Streets, while not included in the plan 
recommendations, a traffic conductor may be needed if this option is selected.    
 

 
The level of service analysis was then updated to include the two main recommended options along 
with a comparison matrix. 
 
 
 
 



SHORT-TERM TOURISM PLAN 
 

22 

 

  Pedestrians supported at each LOS 

 Total 
pedestrian 

S.F. available 
LOS A LOS B LOS C LOS D LOS E LOS F 

No closure – 
sidewalk space only 13,000 213 317 520 813 1,444 1,625 

Full Closure Option 65,000 1,066 1,585 2,600 4,063 7,222 8,125 

One-Way Option 39,000 639 951 1,560 2,438 4,333 4,875 

 
Option Comparison Matrix 

 
Factors  Full Closure Option  One-Way Option 

Parking 
 

Highest impact on parking 
 

Moderate impact on parking 

Convenience 
 

Highest impact on vehicular 
access to downtown retail 
and services  

Lesser impact on vehicular 
access to downtown retail and 
services 

Pedestrian Safety 
 

Best separation of vehicles 
and pedestrians  

Some intermingling of vehicles 
and pedestrians 

Visitor Experience   
Maximum pedestrian and 
amenity space   

Moderate pedestrian and 
amenity space  

Logistics 
 

Very labor intensive for set-
up and take down on a 
daily/weekly basis  

Needs most equipment for 
temporary medians/fencing 

Flexibility   

Provides flexibility to be fully 
open in off-hours/days and 
change with passenger 
levels 

 

Has to stay in place season-
long – too labor and storage 
intensive to demobilize 
regularly 

Amenities/Vending  

No opportunity to 
permanently stage 
amenities/vending for 
season  

 
Opportunity to permanently 
stage amenities/vending for full 
season and offers off-hour 
enjoyment opportunities 
 

Comparative Advantage                         Comparative Disadvantage                               
 

 
 
After consideration of these options and hearing public comment, the Planning Commission voted 4-1 
to recommend the Full Closure Option from 10am to 4pm on days with 3,000 or more cruise 
passengers with the stipulation that efforts to find downtown parking solutions be prioritized.  
 
 



 

 

Kittelson & Associates  1 

Traffic Data Collection Findings and Observations Memorandum  

 

 

INTRODUCTON 

The City and Borough of Sitka (CBS) retained the services of a consultant team comprised of Kittelson & 

Associates, Inc. (Kittelson) and Huddle AK to prepare a tourism focused traffic study, and to conduct 

related stakeholder outreach, building upon the Sitka Short-Term Tourism Plan prepared by CBS staff in 

advance of the 2022 summer tourist season. A major component of this supporting traffic study included 

the collection of significant data, including vehicular and pedestrian traffic counts, parking counts, public 

bathroom observations, and field observations for 3 days in August 2022. Data was collected on a ‘large 

cruise ship day’ representing peak passenger conditions in Sitka with the daytime closure of Lincoln 

Street to vehicles, as well as on a smaller business-as-usual day during which Lincoln Street remained 

open to vehicles while more than 1,000 pedestrians were present in order to assess a range of cruise ship 

tourism driven conditions in Sitka. 

This memorandum is the first of two traffic-focused reports that will be prepared for the CBS and focuses 

on summarizing the quantitative traffic data collected and qualitative field observations, and stakeholder 

feedback heard in August 2022. This memorandum also includes intersection operations analyses for 

four key intersections and pedestrian crossing analyses at eight key crossing locations.   

Following this memorandum, a Traffic Study Report will be prepared that will include additional concept 

evaluation, and more specific project, traffic control, wayfinding and planning recommendations, 

feasibility assessments and cost estimates. 

 

 

 

 

December 21, 2022      
Project# 27735 

To: Amy Ainslie, Planning Director  

City and Borough of Sitka 

100 Lincoln Street 

Sitka, AK 99835 

From: Andrew Ooms, PE; Claire Dougherty, PE and Megan Mannion, EIT 

CC: PTS - Dan Kirsch, PE and Jenny Liljedahl, PE,  

RE: City of Sitka Traffic Study 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  2 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
As an outcome of the Sitka Short-Term Tourism Plan, which was developed in advance of the 2022 summer cruise 
ship season, CBS hired a traffic engineering team to collect traffic data and conduct field observations on multiple 
dates in August 2022 in order to: 

 Understand the traffic impacts of the Lincoln Street closure on downtown circulation, pedestrian activity, 
wayfinding, road user behavior, resident travel impacts and downtown parking. 

 Quantify the range of bus, vehicle and pedestrian activity on quieter and larger volume cruise ship tourism 
days, and increase understanding as to how tourists flow from SCCT to downtown and back. 

 Document traffic volume data, intersection operations and pedestrian crossings as justification for the 
Alaska Department of Transportation (DOT&PF) to make changes to state-managed transportation facilities 
in Sitka. 

 Support planning for continued tourism growth in Sitka. 

Key Traffic Data Trends and Observations 
 The Lake Street/Lincoln Street traffic signal serves significant tourism related pedestrian demand. 

o The lack of left-turn lanes at the Lake Street / Lincoln Street intersection, in combination 
with high pedestrian demand many hours of the day can lead to significant vehicular delay 
and queues on Lake Street. 

o While the timing of tourism related pedestrian activity varies based on cruise ship arrival and 
departure times, on a high volume tourism day, pedestrian volumes crossing Lake Street 
(Harbor Drive) at the Lake Street / Lincoln Street intersection can exceed 500 pedestrians 
per hour for 7 hours of the day. 

o On lower volume tourism days, pedestrian demand still exceeds 200 pedestrians per hour 6 
hours of the day. 

 There is significant pedestrian crossing activity across Harbor Drive between Harrigan Centennial Hall and 

Lincoln Street, with more than 14,000 pedestrian crossings a day on high volume cruise ship days. 

o On high volume cruise ship tourism days, there are more pedestrians crossing Harbor Drive 
than vehicles driving along Harbor Drive. 

o While a majority of pedestrians (8,500) utilize the signalized crosswalks at the Lake Street / 
Lincoln Street intersection, more than 3,000 pedestrians a day crossed Harbor Drive mid-block in 
front of Harrigan Centennial Hall. 

o Lack of obvious wayfinding and active (physical) routing leads to many pedestrians choosing to 

cross Harbor Drive wherever is convenient.  

 Overall, the Lincoln Street closure to vehicular traffic works well for accommodating the thousands of 

pedestrians present downtown on high volume cruise ship tourism days. 

o When Lincoln Street is closed to traffic, there is no observable increase in traffic on adjacent 

roadways such as Seward Street and Katlian Street. 

o Many residents interviewed cited waiting until Lincoln Street is open to vehicles to visit 
downtown. 

 When Lincoln Street remains open to vehicle traffic on lower volume tourism days: 

o There is more pedestrian activity on the Lincoln Street corridor than vehicle use. 
o The existing sidewalks seemed to reasonably accommodate the 1,000 – 2,000 daily pedestrians 

present in the downtown area. 
 When Lincoln Street is closed, downtown parking lots are more highly utilized, with 10% of spots available 

midday as compared to 20-25% of spots available on a lower tourism volume Lincoln Street open day. 

 Harrigan Centennial Hall is a focal point of tourism related activities downtown as the drop-off and 

pickup location for thousands of visitors a day.  

o With more than 500 vehicles entering the main parking lot daily, including nearly 200 bus trips, 

and serving as the launching point for thousands of pedestrians, there are conflicts at the 

driveways and throughout the parking lot. 

 There is also regular tourism related pedestrian crossing activity on Sawmill Creek Road at Raptor Way 

(leading to the Raptor Center), and between the Fortress of the Bear parking area and main facility. 

Next Steps 
Following the fall CBS Assembly and Planning Commission End-Tourism-Season work session, the transportation 
engineering team will work with CBS staff to develop transportation related recommendations to inform tourism 
planning efforts for 2023 and beyond, which will be further documented in a forthcoming Traffic Study. 
 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  3 

 

Contents 

Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 2 

Sitka Tourism Context ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Sitka Traffic Data.................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Lincoln Street Functionality and Observations ........................................................................................................................ 14 

Lake St/Lincoln St Intersection ............................................................................................................................................................. 22 

Other Key Sitka Intersections .................................................................................................................................................................. 27 

Katlian Street / Lincoln Street Intersection ................................................................................... 27 

Halibut Point Road-Sawmill Creek Road/Lake Street ..................................................................... 30 

Harrigan Centennial Hall / Harbor Drive ....................................................................................... 32 

Downtown Parking Summary ................................................................................................................................................................... 35 

Sitka Traffic Safety Summary................................................................................................................................................................... 38 

Pedestrian Crossing Analysis.................................................................................................................................................................... 42 

Lake Street at Seward Street ...................................................................................................... 42 

Midblock Harbor Drive (in front of Harrigan Centennial Hall) ...................................................... 44 

Harbor Drive / Maksoutoff Street ............................................................................................... 46 

Harbor Way ............................................................................................................................... 47 

Raptor Way / Sawmill Creek Road .............................................................................................. 48 

Fortress of the Bear / Sawmill Creek Road ................................................................................. 50 

Additional Traffic Related Feedback ................................................................................................................................................... 53 

Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 54 

 

 

Figures 

Figure 1. Traffic Study Area ................................................................................................................................. 7 

Figure 2. Sitka Traffic Volume Overview ............................................................................................................. 10 

Figure 3. Lincoln Street Closure Pedestrian Activity ............................................................................................ 11 

Figure 4. Lincoln Street Open Pedestrian Activity ............................................................................................... 17 

Figure 5. Harbor Drive Pedestrian Crossing Activity ........................................................................................... 45 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A - Stakeholder Outreach Summary 

Appendix B - City and Borough of Sitka Staff Feedback Summary 

Appendix C - Traffic Count Data 

Appendix D - Intersection Operations Worksheets  



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  4 

 

 

 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study  

Kittelson & Associates  5 

SITKA TOURISM CONTEXT 

Tourism Planning in Sitka 

During the early summer through late fall months, Sitka experiences significant tourism activity, with 

most visitors arriving via cruise ship for single day escapades. Approximately 8,4001 residents call Sitka 

home. Planning for growth in Sitka due to increasing cruise ship tourism began with the Sitka Gateway 

Plan (1998) and the Sitka Short-Term Tourism Plan ( 2021). 

2022 Cruise Season 

Development of the Sitka Short-Term Tourism Plan was prioritized by the CBS following the announcement 

of forecast record cruise ship visitors (480,000 in 2022), following the COVID-19 pandemic which resulted 

in low cruise ship passenger volumes in 2020 and into 2021. Additionally, the opening of the privately 

owned Sitka Sound Cruise Terminal (SSCT) approximately 6 miles north of downtown Sitka further 

evolved tourism logistics in Sitka. Historically, cruise ships visiting Sitka would anchor offshore of 

downtown and lighter (water taxi) passengers to the Crescent Harbor or O’Connell Bridge docks. However, 

with the development of the SSCT, larger capacity cruise ships dock north of town and passengers are 

primarily transported to and from downtown Sitka via 45-60 passenger coach buses. Refer to Figure 1 for 

a visual display of where the key tourist facilities are located around Sitka. 

As an outcome of the Sitka Short-Term Tourism Plan, which was a collaborative effort with CBS staff, the 

Assembly and the Planning Commission and included outreach to industry professionals, merchants, 

tour operators and the public, it was determined that the full closure of Lincoln Street to vehicular traffic 

from 10 AM – 4 PM on summer days forecast to have 3,000 or 

more cruise passengers was necessary to accommodate high 

pedestrian volumes through downtown.  

Development of a Lincoln Street closure calendar involved 

Cruise Line Agencies of Alaska, Visit Sitka and CBS staff. 

Based on observations and feedback in early summer 2022, 

the passenger threshold for a Lincoln Street closure was 

increased to 5,000 or more on a capacity basis. The Lincoln 

Street closure calendar is regularly updated and shared with 

the public for planning purposes and Visit Sitka posts signs 

downtown in advance of closures.  

City of Sitka Traffic Study 

This traffic study championed by the CBS specifically collected 

traffic data on multiple dates in August 2022 during which Lincoln Street open to vehicular traffic and 

closed to vehicular traffic in order to: 

 Understand the traffic impacts of the Lincoln Street closure on downtown circulation, pedestrian 

flows and crossing activity, wayfinding, road user behavior, resident travel impacts and downtown 

parking.  

 Quantify the range of bus, vehicle and pedestrian activity on quieter and larger volume cruise ship 

tourism days, and increase understanding as to how tourists flow from SCCT to downtown and back. 

 Document traffic volume data, intersection operations and pedestrian crossings as justification for 

the Alaska Department of Transportation (DOT&PF) to make changes to state-managed 

transportation facilities in Sitka. 

 Effectively plan for continued tourism growth in Sitka - The 2023 cruise ship season is forecast to 

bring 570,000 visitors to Sitka, including more than 30 days with 7,000+ visitors. 

 
1 Alaska Department of Labor, 2021 population estimate for Sitka (8,387). 

Photo 1 – Visit Sitka Lincoln Street 

Closure Public Schedule 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  6 

SITKA TRAFFIC DATA  

The core data collection effort in mid-August 2022 included intersection 

traffic counts and pedestrian counts, as well as peak period downtown 

parking counts and bathroom observations. Based on staff field 

observations and interviews with community members (Appendix A) and 

CBS staff (Appendix B), four key intersection and eight key pedestrian 

crossing locations were selected for more detailed analysis, as shown on 

Figure 1. Video data was collected over the course of three days, Tuesday – 

Thursday to capture conditions with Lincoln Street open to vehicular 

traffic and when Lincoln Street is closed. While Tuesday and Wednesday 

were the main data collection dates, some camera battery challenges led to 

make-up data collection on Thursday. 

On the dates of data collection, Sitka experienced partly sunny skies, with 

temperatures in the low to mid 60s – while the exact number of tourists 

that chose to disembark each cruise ship are not known, the mild weather and traffic data suggest that a 

relatively high percentage of tourists were present in downtown Sitka on the days data was collected. 

Table 1. August 8 – 12, 2022 Visitor Numbers and Lincoln Street Closure Schedule 

Green highlighted signifies Lincoln Street was closed to vehicular traffic 10 AM – 4 PM 
Bold indicates the primary days traffic data was collected. 
 
At the time traffic data was collected, there was active construction activity on Sawmill Creek Road from 

Lake Street to Jeff Davis Street, with one-way flagging restrictions from 7 AM – 7 PM. While this 

construction activity led to additional delays for vehicles on Sawmill Creek Road and at times notable 

vehicle queues, the lack of alternative routes and review of traffic data does not suggest this activity 

significantly impacted the traffic volume data collected in August 2022. 

Day of Week Anticipated Potential 

Visitors Based on 

Cruise ship Capacity 

Actual Visitor 

Numbers 

Percent Actual 

Visitors from Ship 

Capacity Potential  

Monday 5,314 4,302 81% 

Tuesday 8,395 7,792 93% 

Wednesday 2,104 1,853 88% 

Thursday 5,832 4,861 83% 

Friday 3,020 2,649 88% 

Photo 2 – Traffic Data 
Camera Placement  



H:
\2

7\
27

73
5 

- C
ity

 o
f S

itk
a 

Tr
af

fic
 S

tu
dy

\r
ep

or
t\f

ig
s\

27
73

5_
Fi

gu
re

s.
dw

g 
   

  D
ec

 2
2,

 2
02

2 
- 9

:0
1a

m
 - 

 m
m

an
ni

on
   

   
La

yo
ut

 T
ab

: F
ig

ur
e 

1 
- T

ra
ffi

c 
St

ud
y 

Ar
ea

Traffic Study Area
Sitka, Alaska 1

City of Sitka Traffic Sudy 27735

Figure

Additional Traffic Data Count Location

2

1

3

4

1

2
3

4

Key Pedestrian Crossing Study Location
# Key Intersection Study Location

Existing Roundabout Intersection

Existing Traffic Signal 

Linc
oln

 St

Katlian St

Harbor W
ay

Lincoln St

Halibut Pt Rd
Sawmill Creek Rd

Maksoutoff St

Sew
ard

 St

Barracks St
Am

erican St

Halibut Point Rd

Sawmill Creek RdDOWNTOWN

DOWNTOWN

Key Tourism Facilities

Raptor
Center

Harrigan
Centennial Hall

M
onastery St

Baranof St

 Sitka National
Historical Park

Sitka Sound
Cruise Terminal

Fortress of
the Bear

Jeff Davis St

Lake St

Harb
or D

r

O'Connell
Lightering
Dock

Crescent Harbor
Lightering

N



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  8 

Traffic and Pedestrian Volumes 

While Sitka roadways do experience typical commuter PM peak hour activity, high volume cruise ship 

days can also create a midday peak when high pedestrian volumes greatly impact vehicle traffic 

operations. The timing of peak periods may vary based on cruise ship arrival and departure times. Field 

observations and traffic counts suggest the midday peak vehicular and pedestrian activity downtown 

generally occurs from 11 AM to 2 PM.  

The following sections further detail traffic volume data at key intersections and pedestrian crossing 

locations selected for more detailed analysis. While traffic count data was collected at some additional 

locations as shown on Figure 1, field observations and discussions with community members do not 

suggest specific capacity or safety concerns at these locations. Therefore, more detailed analysis of data at 

these locations is not provided at this time, however all traffic data is provided in Appendix C, should 

further analysis become necessary in the future.   

The Alaska Traffic Data online database provides DOT&PF historical data including average annual daily 

traffic (AADT) and monthly average daily traffic (MADT) on key Sitka roadways. Figure 2 conveys the 

approximate scale of AADT within Sitka. The highest volume roadways include: 

 Halibut Point Road, which experiences an approximate AADT of 9,500 vehicles per day and an 

approximate MADT of 10,000 – 11,000 vehicles per day during the summer. 

 Sawmill Creek Road, which experiences an approximate AADT of 8,300 vehicles per day and an 

approximate MADT of 9,000 vehicles per day during the summer. 

 Lake Street, which experiences an approximate AADT of 7,000 vehicles per day. 

 Harbor Drive, which experiences an approximate AADT of 5,000 vehicles per day. 

Though not an especially high vehicle volume roadway, it is noted that DOT traffic data estimates an 

AADT on Lincoln Street of approximately 5,000 vehicles per day. On high volume tourism days, Lincoln 

Street also serves several thousand pedestrians a day. 

Figure 3, based on pedestrian counts collected in August 2022 on a high volume tourism day, displays 

the significant pedestrian demand between the Harrigan Centennial Hall parking lot, where tourists from 

SSCT are dropped off and picked up, and the downtown Lincoln Street corridor. On a peak day, there 

were more than 14,000 pedestrian crossings of Lake Street (Harbor Drive) observed. While a majority of 

pedestrians (8,500) utilize the signalized crosswalks at the Lake Street / Lincoln Street intersection, more 

than 3,000 pedestrians crossed Harbor Drive mid-block in front of Harrigan Centennial Hall. Field 

observations indicate that lack of obvious wayfinding and active (physical) routing leads to many 

pedestrians choosing to cross Harbor Drive wherever is convenient.  

While the timing of tourism related pedestrian activity varies based on cruise ship arrival and departure 

times, on a high volume tourism day, pedestrian volumes crossing Lake Street (Harbor Drive) at the Lake 

Street / Lincoln Street intersection can exceed 500 pedestrian per hour for 7 hours of the day, as shown 

in Exhibit 1. Additionally, during the midday peak period, more than 1,600 pedestrians utilize the 

intersection to cross Lake Street (Harbor Drive). 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  9 

Exhibit 1. Hourly Pedestrian Crossing Volumes of Lake Street at the Lake Street / Lincoln Street 
Intersection. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

38

247

665

1095

1449

1561

1648

910

695

283

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

8:00 9:00 10:00 11:00 12:00 1:00 2:00 3:00 4:00 5:00

H
o

u
rl

y
 P

e
d

e
st

ri
a

n
 C

ro
ss

in
g

s 
o

f 
La

k
e

 S
tr

e
e

t

Time of Day



H:
\2

7\
27

73
5 

- C
ity

 o
f S

itk
a 

Tr
af

fic
 S

tu
dy

\r
ep

or
t\f

ig
s\

27
73

5_
Fi

gu
re

s.
dw

g 
   

  D
ec

 2
2,

 2
02

2 
- 9

:0
3a

m
 - 

 m
m

an
ni

on
   

   
La

yo
ut

 T
ab

: F
ig

ur
e 

2 
- S

itk
a 

AA
DT

Traffic Volumes Overview
Sitka, Alaska 2

City of Sitka Traffic Sudy 27735

Figure

Linc
oln

 St

Katlian St

Harbor Way

Lincoln St

Halibut Pt Rd
Sawmill Creek Rd

Maksoutoff St

Sew
ard

 St

Barracks St
Am

erican St

Halibut Point Rd

Sawmill Creek RdDOWNTOWN

DOWNTOWN

M
onastery St

Baranof St

Jeff Davis St

Lake St

Harb
or D

r

3,000 - 5,000 AADT
1,000 - 3,000 AADT
<1,000 AADT

5,000 - 8,000 AADT
>8,000 AADT

N



H:
\2

7\
27

73
5 

- C
ity

 o
f S

itk
a 

Tr
af

fic
 S

tu
dy

\r
ep

or
t\f

ig
s\

27
73

5_
Fi

gu
re

s.
dw

g 
   

  D
ec

 2
2,

 2
02

2 
- 9

:0
4a

m
 - 

 m
m

an
ni

on
   

   
La

yo
ut

 T
ab

: F
ig

ur
e 

3-
 P

ed
es

tri
an

 F
ig

ur
e

Downtown Daily Pedestrian Activity
High Volume Tourism Day (Lincoln Street Closed)

Sitka, Alaska 3

City of Sitka Traffic Sudy 27735

Figure

Lincoln St

Katlian St

Harbor Way

Seward St

Barracks St

Am
erican St

Lake St

Harbor Dr

Harrigan
Centennial Hall

Seward St

HIGH PEDESTRIAN ACTIVITY AREAS
XXXX

DAILY PEDESTRIAN VOLUMES

2,847

8,591

180

3,023

2,339

Lincoln Street

Coach Bus
Drop-Off/Pickup

N

KEY PEDESTRIAN DESTINATIONS



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  12 

Intersection Operation Methodology 

Vehicle intersection operations analyses were assessed at key, high-volume downtown intersections 

during the midday and PM peak hours considering vehicular and non-motorized activity on a day when 

Lincoln Street remained open to vehicular traffic and on a day in which Lincoln Street was closed to 

vehicular traffic. The intersection analyses assess a volume-to-capacity ratio and average delay, the latter 

of which is used to assign a level-of-service (LOS). Intersection LOS is analogous to the letter grades in a 

school report card. Motorists using an intersection that operates at LOS A experience very little delay, 

while those using an intersection operating at LOS F will experience long delays. Traffic operations for 

signalized intersections are reported for the intersection as a whole, while unsignalized intersection 

operations are reported for the critical movement, typically the minor street turning movement. 

Synchro 11 software was used for analyzing signalized and stop-controlled intersections and HCS7 for the 

roundabout intersection. These analyses provide level-of-service (LOS), delay, and volume-to-capacity 

ratio (V/C) results following Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) 6th Edition methodology. 

While intersection operations were conducted consistent with HCM methodology and reported herein, the 

high pedestrian volumes and pedestrian platooning behaviors throughout downtown Sitka on peak 

tourism days are outside the conditions and vehicle-pedestrian interactions reflected in the HCM 

analyses. Therefore, the reported HCM measures of effectiveness may not accurately capture real-world 

conditions during extreme pedestrian flows and the intersection operations analyses are supplemented 

with field observations. 

  



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  13 

 

 

 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study  

Kittelson & Associates  14 

LINCOLN STREET FUNCTIONALITY AND 

OBSERVATIONS 

Lincoln Street is a key downtown corridor that serves many functions— it facilitates access to downtown 

shops, businesses, and restaurants, includes distinct landmarks and tourist attractions such as St. 

Michael’s Orthodox Cathedral, connects vehicular traffic to Katlian Street and provides parking 

downtown. 

From Lake Street to Katlian Street, Lincoln Street serves two-lane vehicular 

traffic with one way traffic circulating around St. Michael’s Orthodox 

Cathedral. On-street parking is generally provided on both sides of Lincoln 

Street, with parking restrictions in the vicinity of the six crosswalks.  

Curb tight, continuous sidewalks are provided on both sides of the street, 

generally with a minimum width of 5 feet between building fronts and curb 

face, however there are periodic obstructions by signs, fire hydrants, light 

posts and retail related items that effectively narrow the usable sidewalk 

width for pedestrians. 

 

 

 

 

Lincoln Street Traffic Volumes 

Vehicle Traffic 

When open to vehicular traffic, westbound vehicle volumes are double eastbound volumes most hours of 

the day. On closure dates, vehicle volumes are similar from 8:00 – 9:00 AM but taper after 9:00 AM before 

the 10:00 AM closure. Vehicle volumes rebound from 4:00-5:00 PM when the Lincoln Street closure is 

removed. When Lincoln Street remains open to vehicular traffic, approximately 210 vehicles travel Lincoln 

Street during the midday peak hour as compared to approximately 240 vehicles during the PM peak hour. 

Photo 3 - A fire hydrant, 
building columns and shop 
signs reduce effective sidewalk 
width on Lincoln Street 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  15 

Exhibit 2. Lincoln Street (Open) – Vehicular Hourly Volume Profile 

 

 

Exhibit 3. Lincoln Street (Closed) – Vehicular Hourly Volume Profile 

 

 

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM

V
e

h
ic

le
s 

P
e

r 
H

o
u

r

Time of Day

Eastbound

Westbound

Eastbound+Westbound

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM

V
e

h
ic

le
s 

P
e

r 
H

o
u

r

Time of Day

Eastbound

Westbound

Eastbound+Westbound



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  16 

Pedestrian Traffic 

When Lincoln Street is closed to vehicular traffic, pedestrians are able to walk on Lincoln Street and cross 

anywhere between Lake Street and Katlian Street. 

When Lincoln Street is open to vehicular traffic, there are six crosswalks provided, in addition to the 

crosswalks at the bounding Lincoln Street / Katlian Street and Lincoln Street / Lake Street intersections. 

Pedestrian activity was counted at all crosswalks, as well as the intermediary zones on a day Lincoln 

Street was open to vehicular traffic. Figure 4 summarizes daily pedestrian activity patterns on Lincoln 

Street, from Lake Street to Katlian Street on a day when Lincoln Street remained open to vehicular traffic. 

Key findings from the Lincoln Street pedestrian data include: 

 The most heavily used crosswalk, with daily volumes exceeding 1,400 crossings in the crosswalk, 

was leading to St. Michael’s Orthodox Cathedral. 

 While pedestrian crossing volumes are higher at the crosswalk than at the intermediary zones, there 

are anywhere from 100 to more than 600 crossings outside of striped crosswalks along Lincoln 

Street over the course of a day. However, considering the relatively low conflicting vehicle volumes 

even when Lincoln Street remains open to vehicular traffic, this is to be expected as there are a lot 

more pedestrians than vehicles present in the environment.  

 Field observations indicated that drivers on Lincoln Street were traveling at low speeds and 

anticipated pedestrian crossings along the Lincoln Street corridor. 

Additionally, dated pedestrian infrastructure was observed along Lincoln Street, including curb ramps 

lacking detectable warning mats, flat landings and in some locations, visibly steep sidewalk cross slopes. 

 

Photo 5  – Pedestrian Curb Ramp lacking 
detectable warning mat 

 

 

  

Photo 4 - Pedestrian Ramp lacking detectable 
warning mat and flat landing  



H:
\2

7\
27

73
5 

- C
ity

 o
f S

itk
a 

Tr
af

fic
 S

tu
dy

\r
ep

or
t\f

ig
s\

27
73

5_
Fi

gu
re

s.
dw

g 
   

  D
ec

 2
2,

 2
02

2 
- 9

:0
5a

m
 - 

 m
m

an
ni

on
   

   
La

yo
ut

 T
ab

: F
ig

ur
e 

4 
- L

in
co

ln
 E

xh
ib

it

Lincoln Street (Open to Vehicles) Pedestrian Crossing Activity
Daily Crossings

Sitka, Alaska 4

City of Sitka Traffic Sudy 27735

Figure
200 - 300
100 - 200
<100

300 - 400 
>600
500 - 600
400 - 500

Lincoln St

Katlian St

Harbor Way

Seward St

Barracks St

Am
erican St

Lake St

Harbor Dr

Harrigan
Centennial Hall

N



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  18 

Lincoln Street Closures 

Observations and Feedback 

 Setting up and tearing down the temporary Lincoln 

Street closures are collaborative between CBS 

Maintenance and Operation staff, CBS Police and 

Visit Sitka staff. 

o In order to reduce the manpower 

necessary to set-up the closures, 

permanent infrastructure to 

accommodate pedestrians would be 

preferred by CBS staff. 

 General feedback from residents and downtown 

businesses is positive.  

o While there may be some inconveniences in terms of parking, the value of the additional 

space is clear on big days as folks can zigzag and freely explore downtown. 

o Lack of vehicular traffic creates a quieter, low conflict environment and provides space for 

additional vendors. 

o Even non-tourism-oriented businesses on Lincoln Street can see the necessity for limiting 

vehicles on Lincoln Street on busy tourism days. 

o The 2022 tourist season is noticeably busier than 2019. 

 Peak activity is generally 11 AM – 2 PM but daily visitor timing is very dependent on the cruise ship 

schedules. Some days, visitors are arriving downtown as early as 7 AM or the last bus to SSCT is as 

late as 7 PM. 

o Fedex and UPS delivery drivers wish the closure started later than 11 AM, as they only 

have about 1 hour in the morning to complete all downtown deliveries. 

 The closure of Lincoln Street does not result in an observable increase in traffic on 

adjacent/downtown fringe roadways, as verified by data collected on Seward Street and Katlian 

Street. Rather most residents expressed that they instead avoid Lincoln Street until after the closure 

is complete to access downtown businesses or chose to walk the closure. Residents interviewed 

stated that upcoming closure dates are well known and advertised, though Lincoln Street closure 

schedule changes due to changing cruise ship schedules are not uncommon. 

 Though there are signs asking for bicycles to be walked on Lincoln Street during closure, several 

bicycles were observed riding but there generally seemed to be adequate street space to 

accommodate an occasional bicyclist. A limited number of scooters and electric bicycles were 

observed on Lincoln Street as well. 

 

 

Photo 7 - Bicyclist within the Lincoln Street Closure  

Photo 6 - CBS Staff Set Up Lincoln Street 
Closure 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  19 

 

 

 

Photo 8 - Parked vehicles not removed before the Lincoln Street closure set-up begins at 9 AM get 
‘barnacled’ – Though cheaper than getting towed, a fee must be paid to release the barnacle device 

 

 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  20 

Lincoln Street Open Observations 

 The Lincoln Street sidewalks seemed to reasonably 

accommodate the 1,000 – 2,000 visitors present on 

the day in which Lincoln Street remained open. 

 Street parking on Lincoln Street appeared at most 

50 percent utilized during daytime hours. 

 There are several Lincoln Street crosswalks at which 

drivers displayed varying yielding behavior. While 

most vehicles travelled slowly and seemed to 

anticipate pedestrians, an occasional vehicle would 

accelerate quickly to get through a crosswalk before 

approaching pedestrians could begin to cross the 

street. 

 Businesses on Lincoln Street noted more audible 

street noise from vehicle engines on days Lincoln 

Street remains open to traffic. 

 Peak pedestrian activity on Lincoln Street occurs 

midday (11:00 AM – 2:00PM) whereas the vehicular 

peak period is late afternoon (4:30 PM-5:30 PM). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Photo 9 – Vehicle yielding to pedestrians in front 
of St. Michaels 

Photo 10 – Pedestrians, bicyclist, parked vehicles 
and a circulating vehicle on Lincoln Street 

After the August 2022 field visit and 

data collection effort, there were a few 

days in late September and early 

October in which cruise ship capacity 

volumes exceeded 5,000 but Lincoln 

Street remained open to traffic as 

closures were complete for the 

season. While the later season fall 

weather may have resulted in a low 

percentage of tourists disembarking 

from the cruise ships, CBS staff noted 

that pedestrian and vehicle movement 

along Lincoln Street was slow. 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  21 

 

 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study  

Kittelson & Associates  22 

LAKE ST / LINCOLN ST 

INTERSECTION 

The Lake Street / Lincoln Street intersection is one of two 

intersections in Sitka controlled by a traffic signal. As the 

only signalized crossing of Harbor Drive from Harrigan 

Centennial Hall to the downtown shops and restaurants 

located along Lincoln Street, this intersection experiences 

high vehicular and significant pedestrian demand, 

particularly midday on high volume cruise ship days.  

 

Traffic Data 

Traffic counts were collected at Lake Street / Lincoln 

Street during the midday and PM peak hours on a Lincoln Street open and closed day. On a Lincoln 

Street open day, the observed midday peak hour was from 11:45 AM to 12:45 PM and the PM peak hour 

was from 4:30 PM to 5:30 PM. On a Lincoln Street closed day, the midday peak was from 11:30 AM to 

12:30 PM and the PM peak hour was from 4:15 PM to 5:15 PM. Traffic counts and lane configurations are 

provided in Exhibit 4.  

Exhibit 4. Lake Street / Lincoln Street Midday and PM Peak Hour Vehicle and Pedestrian Volumes 

 

Photo 11 – Multiple pedestrian groups cross Lake 
Street (Harbor Drive) to access Lincoln Street. 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  23 

 

As shown in Exhibit 4, the intersection experiences relatively consistent midday and PM peak hour 

vehicular volumes regardless of Lincoln Street closure status. However, the pedestrian volumes at the 

intersection are notably higher on the higher volume tourism day when Lincoln Street is closed. 

An HCM based intersection operations analysis suggests the intersection of Lake Street / Lincoln Street 

operates at LOS A or B on a Lincoln Street closed and open day, except for the PM peak hour on a Lincoln 

Street closed day, which operates at LOS F and high delay. Hourly intersection operations on a Lincoln 

Street closed day are provided in Table 2. HCM LOS calculations for this intersection are driven by 

southbound left turn demand and the PM peak hour results on a Lincoln Street closed day include an 

observed volume exceeding the HCM method capacity for that movement, which is not possible in the real 

world. Additionally, the HCM based intersection operations results do not accurately reflect observed field 

conditions during peak conditions, which include extensive queuing and delay during the peak hours on 

both a Lincoln Street open and closed day. The HCM methodology may not fully capture the impacts of 

the high peak period pedestrian volumes and the capacity impacts on the conflicting vehicle movements, 

so HCM results were not included in Exhibit 4. 

Table 2. Lake Street / Lincoln Street (Closed Day) 11 AM – 6 PM Traffic Volumes and Operations  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*HCM Analysis does not reflect observed field conditions including vehicular delay and queuing  

As shown in Exhibit 4, the existing intersection lane configuration at the traffic signal does not include 

left-turn lanes, and therefore left-turning vehicles, who experience delays yielding to through vehicles and 

pedestrians, can create significant queues on Lake Street, at times extending all the way to the Halibut 

Point Road-Sawmill Creek Road / Lake Street roundabout, which is located less than a ¼ mile north. 

Multiple cycle failures were observed in which a permissive left or right-turn vehicle, yielding to 

pedestrians and oncoming vehicles, was not able to progress due to the continuous movement of 

pedestrians throughout the green phase.  

As shown in Exhibit 5, the Lake Street / Lincoln Street intersection experiences significant pedestrian 

demand outside of the midday and PM peak hours. On higher tourism days, more than 500 pedestrians 

an hour use the intersection to cross Lake Street (Harbor Drive) 7 hours of the day, with more than 200 

pedestrians per hour also using the intersection to cross the Lincoln Street approaches. On lower volume 

tourism days, pedestrian demand still exceeds 200 pedestrians per hour 6 hours of the day. 

Pedestrians crossing the Lake Street / Lincoln Street intersection experience an average signal delay of 

between 17 and 21 seconds per person, depending on the leg waiting to cross and the time of day. This 

translates to over 8 hours of person-delay for people waiting to cross Lake Street during peak hour 

conditions. 

Time TEV Pedestrians LOS Delay (sec) 

11 AM – 12 PM 828 1,479 B 13.8 

12 PM – 1 PM 933 2,008 B 15.5 

1 PM – 2 PM 887 2,123 B 14.0 

2 PM – 3 PM 777 2,027 B 13.0 

3 PM – 4 PM 854 1,210 B 13.6 

4 PM – 5 PM 1,080 952 F  208.8 

5 PM – 6 PM 903 441 B 11.5 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  24 

Exhibit 5. Lake Street / Lincoln Street Intersection Pedestrian Activity (Open and Closed) 

 

  

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

8:00 9:00 10:00 11:00 12:00 1:00 2:00 3:00 4:00 5:00

P
e

d
e

st
ri

a
n

 C
ro

ss
in

g
s 

P
e

r 
H

o
u

r

Time of Day

Lake Street Crossings (Lincoln Open)

LIncoln Street Crossings (Lincoln Open)

Lake Street Crossings (Lincoln Closed)

Lincoln Street Crossings (Lincoln Closed)



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  25 

Traffic Volume Observations 

 Intersection vehicle volumes are relatively consistent between midday and PM peak hours, regardless 

of Lincoln Street closures or scale of cruise ship visitors. 

 The intersection experiences significant pedestrian demand, with over 1,000 pedestrians traversing 

the intersection during the midday peak on a Lincoln Street closure day. During high volume 

tourism days, hourly pedestrian demand to cross Lake Street (or Harbor Drive) at the intersection 

exceeds 500 pedestrians per hour for several hours of the day. 

 During midday and PM peak periods, the intersection experiences relatively high heavy vehicle 

(truck) percentages on the Lake Street through movements (7-20 percent of all traffic), likely 

associated with construction in the area. Additionally, buses represent 5–14 percent of all traffic—

the intersection experiences 20-30 bus trips per hour per direction during peak periods. 

Other Observations and Feedback 

 A pedestrian crossing phase must be activated by a pedestrian utilizing 

the push button, otherwise no pedestrian walk symbol is displayed. 

This frequently leads to confusion, frustration and out-of-turn crossing 

decisions by some pedestrians due to uncertainty if the button had been 

pressed, if the phase would come up, or the presence of the button at 

all. The push buttons are located on dark colored decorative poles 

which can make it challenging to find the push buttons.  

 There generally appeared to be adequate space behind the curbs to 

accommodate waiting pedestrian platoons at each corner of the 

intersection, however the scale of some pedestrian platoons resulted in 

delayed crossing starts, resulting in pedestrians beginning to cross 

during the flash-don’t-walk phase and crossing times extending into the 

don’t walk phase. It has been reported to us that pedestrian platoons 

can exceed available crosswalk width at times.  

 Pedestrian platoon volumes are so high that right or left-turning 

vehicles correctly yielding to pedestrians may not be able to turn before 

the signal changes at the end of the pedestrian phase, which was 

observed to lead to driver frustration and vehicular queues. 

 DOT&PF traffic signal specialists also visited Sitka in summer 2022 to 

observe peak hour operations that the Lake Street / Lincoln Street 

intersection and are looking into changes such as: 

o Programming a constant pedestrian phase during heavy 

pedestrian volumes, regardless if a push button is used. 

o Addition of left-turn lanes on the north and south (Lake Street) approaches if there is 

adequate width. 

 DOT&PF crash data indicates six crashes occurred at Lake Street / Lincoln Street between 2015-

2020. Five of these crashes were property damage only crashes, and the one injury crash involved a 

pedestrian. 

 

Photo 12 – Pedestrian Push Buttons 
on dark background decorative pole 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  26 

 

Photo 13 – Though southbound vehicular traffic has a green signal, a scooter crossing and vehicle 
turning from Lake Street out-of-turn inhibit southbound vehicular traffic from progressing 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  27 

OTHER KEY SITKA INTERSECTIONS 

Katlian Street / Lincoln Street Intersection 

The Katlian Street / Lincoln Street intersection is located at the west end 

of the Lincoln Street corridor. A three-leg intersection, the Katlian Street 

approach is stop-controlled while the two Lincoln Street approaches are 

free movements. There are crosswalks on all three approaches, and a 

continuous sidewalk along the Lincoln Street shop frontages. 

Traffic Data 

Traffic counts were collected at Katlian Street / Lincoln Street during the 

midday and PM peak hours on both a Lincoln Street open and closed day. 

On a Lincoln Street open day, the observed midday peak hour was from 

12:00 PM to 1:00 PM and the PM peak hour was from 4:30 PM to 5:30 PM. 

On a Lincoln Street closed day, the midday peak hour was from 11:45 AM 

to 12:45 PM and PM peak hour was from 4:15 PM to 5:15 PM. Traffic 

counts, lane configurations, and traffic operations are provided in Exhibit 

6.  

 

Photo 14 – Katlian Street /Lincoln 
Street Intersection during closure 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  28 

Exhibit 6. Katlian Street / Lincoln Street Intersection Midday and PM Vehicle and Pedestrian 
Volumes 

  

As shown in Exhibit 6, the critical stop-controlled southbound movement at the Katlian Street / Lincoln 

Street operates between LOS B and D. These results suggest that there can be high vehicular delay (more 

than 15 seconds) for southbound vehicles during some peak hour conditions, but overall pedestrian 

volumes are higher than vehicular volumes at this intersection, particularly during high volume tourism 

days when Lincoln Street is closed. 

Traffic Volume Observations 

 Vehicle volumes are higher during the PM peak than the midday peak, regardless of Lincoln Street 

closure, but pedestrian volumes are notably higher during the midday peak.  

 During the Lincoln Street closure, vehicle volumes at the Lincoln Street / Katlian Street intersection 

are approximately 50 percent lower during the midday peak hour as compared to when Lincoln 

Street remains open to vehicular traffic. 

 At this intersection, midday peak hour pedestrian volumes on large cruise ship days with Lincoln 

Street closed are more than double pedestrian volumes as compared to a smaller cruise ship day. PM 

peak hour pedestrian volumes are the same on a large cruise ship day and a smaller cruise ship day. 

 DOT&PF crash data showed no history of pedestrian or vehicle crashes at this intersection. 

 While there are no explicit operational or capacity concerns at the intersection, confusion of some 

bicyclists and drivers approaching the closure was observed. 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  29 

o While the Lincoln Street closure traffic control plan includes barriers at Lincoln Street 

just east of Katlian Street, there are no signs explicitly directing motorized vehicles to an 

alternate route.  

  

Photo 15 – E-Bikes stop on road approaching Lincoln Street 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  30 

Halibut Point Road-Sawmill Creek 

Road / Lake Street  

The Halibut Point Road-Sawmill Creek Road / Lake Street 

intersection is a single lane roundabout intersection that 

functions as a gateway to downtown, particularly for 

tourists arriving via coach bus from SSCT. Constructed by 

DOT&PF in 2009, the four-approach roundabout includes 

crosswalk signing and striping on all four approaches. 

Traffic Data  

Traffic counts were collected Halibut Point Road-Sawmill 

Creek Road / Lake Street during the midday and PM peak 

hours on a Lincoln Street open and closed day. The 

observed midday and PM peak hours were the same on a Lincoln Street open and closed day, 12:00 PM to 

1:00 PM during the midday peak and 4:30 PM to 5:30 PM during the PM peak, respectively. Traffic 

counts, lane configurations, and traffic operations are provided in Exhibit 7. 

Exhibit 7. Halibut Point Road – Sawmill Creek Road / Lake Street Vehicle and Pedestrian Volumes 
and Intersection Operations 

 

Photo 16 – Coach bus approaches the roundabout from 
Halibut Point Road 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  31 

As shown in Exhibit 7, the roundabout operates at LOS A or B during midday and PM peak hour 

conditions during a Lincoln Street open and closed day. It is noted that traffic volumes are relatively 

similar and the lane configuration does not change whether or not Lincoln street is open or closed.  

While the HCM intersection operations analysis does not suggest capacity constraints at the intersection, 

extensive queueing from the Lincoln Street / Lake Street intersection was observed to impact roundabout 

operations during peak periods, which is not accounted for in the reported HCM analysis. At times, 

southbound vehicular queues on Lake Street would extend from the Lincoln Street / Lake Street 

intersection, inhibiting circulating vehicles at the roundabout. 

Traffic Volume Observations 

 This intersection is the highest vehicular volume intersection in downtown Sitka during midday and 

PM peak hours. 

 Midday peak hour vehicle volumes are comparable to PM peak hour volumes. 

 Highest volume movements during midday and PM peak hours are from eastbound Halibut Point 

Road to southbound Lake Street and from northbound Lake Street to westbound Halibut Point Road. 

 Peak hour pedestrian volumes are consistent between a lower cruise ship volume day (Lincoln Street 

remains open) and a higher cruise ship volume day (Lincoln Street closure). 

o At this intersection, pedestrian crossings only have a minor impact on vehicle operations. 

 Peak hour queues extending north from the Lincoln Street / Lake Street intersection impact 

operations at the roundabout. 

 DOT&PF crash data shows there were no reported crashes involving a pedestrian or bicycle at this 

intersection. 

 

Other Observations 

 Vehicular yielding behavior at the crosswalks is varied. While most vehicles approaching the 

roundabout were decelerating and appropriately yielding to pedestrians, an occasional vehicle was 

observed to accelerate through the crossing in advance of a pedestrian. 

 The pedestrian crossings within the splitter median island lack detectable warning mats, consistent 

with current roundabout design best practices. 

 Residents interviewed suggested that additional center island landscaping, in combination with 

decorative banners/signage could help to reinforce the intersection as the gateway to downtown and 

to welcome visitors arriving to downtown via coach bus through the intersection. 

  



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  32 

Harrigan Centennial Hall / Harbor Drive 

The main Harrigan Centennial Hall parking lot is 

the epicenter of activity particularly during high 

tourism volume days. Serving coach tour bus 

unloading and loading operations, as well as tour 

shuttles, taxis and passenger vehicles, the 

driveways and parking lots experience consistent 

vehicular and pedestrian traffic throughout the 

day. 

Driveway counts were collected at the two 

driveways to the main parking lot on the day of a 

Lincoln Street closure, as shown in Exhibit 8. The 

southern driveway serves entering and departing 

passenger vehicles, though most vehicles depart 

via the north driveway which is exit only. All 

coach buses, shuttles and taxis enter via the 

south driveway and depart through the north 

driveway. Upon departure, most vehicles are 

making a right-turn to go north on Harbor Drive. 

In order to assist the CBS and Harrigan Centennial Hall with future planning activities, driveway activity 

is summarized by total entering and departing vehicles, as well as by vehicle type from 6:00 AM to 8:00 

PM in Table 3. 

Driveway Observations and Feedback 

 Hourly driveway volumes are relatively consistent from 8:00 AM to 

5:00 PM. 

 Passenger vehicles comprise the highest proportion of vehicles 

entering and departing, however during peak periods, coach bus 

volumes (20-30 per hour) are nearly as high as passenger vehicles.  

 Egress movements from both driveways can be complicated by 

high pedestrian activity across Harbor Drive (photo), as well as 

pedestrian activity across the driveways and throughout the 

parking areas. 

 During busy coach bus loading times, if there is not adequate curb 

space for an additional coach bus to enter the parking lot as 

communicated via radio, buses will pass by Harrigan Centennial 

and stage at the UAA SE campus parking lot until curb space is 

available. 

 The CBS Library, which shares the Harrigan Centennial Hall 

parking lot, notes: 

o The increased activity in the parking lot during peak 

tourism hours has led to local residents to change their 

visit times to occur later in the day so that they can 

find parking in front of the library.  

o With the increased coach bus traffic turning in, and 

pedestrian volumes throughout the Harrigan 

Centennial parking lot and on Harbor Way, it can be 

challenging for vehicles to turn out of the south driveway. 

 

Photo 17 - Pedestrians cross 
Harbor Drive at the north Harrigan 
Centennial driveway, which can 
inhibit departing vehicles 

Exhibit 8. Harrigan Centennial Hall Driveways and 
Daily Vehicle Volumes 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  33 

 

Table 3. Harrigan Centennial Driveway Activity Summary  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Hourly 

Start 

Time 

Entering Vehicles Departing Vehicles 

All 

Vehicles 

Passenger 

Vehicles 
Shuttles Buses Taxis 

Other 

Vehicles 

(Trucks) 

All 

Vehicles 

Passenger 

Vehicles 
Shuttles Buses Taxis 

Other 

Vehicles 

(Trucks) 

6:00 AM 8 7 0 0 0 1 5 2 1 0 1 1 

7:00 AM 11 10 0 1 0 0 10 9 0 1 0 0 

8:00 AM 26 15 1 6 0 4 17 6 1 5 1 4 

9:00 AM 43 28 0 14 0 1 30 11 0 12 6 1 

10:00 AM 49 23 0 24 0 2 45 19 0 23 1 2 

11:00 AM 54 25 3 23 2 1 47 16 3 24 4 0 

12:00 PM 53 27 1 22 1 2 49 23 1 21 3 1 

1:00 PM 54 29 1 23 1 0 52 24 1 23 3 1 

2:00 PM 49 23 1 25 0 0 50 19 2 26 2 1 

3:00 PM 51 29 0 21 0 1 52 26 0 21 4 1 

4:00 PM 62 31 2 28 0 1 64 32 2 23 6 1 

5:00 PM 43 33 1 9 0 0 34 23 1 9 1 0 

6:00 PM 16 13 1 2 0 0 22 13 0 7 1 1 

7:00 PM 8 7 0 1 0 0 20 15 1 2 0 2 

TOTAL 527 300 11 199 4 13 497 238 13 197 33 16 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  34 

Harrigan Centennial Hall Tourist Circulation Observations and Feedback 

Harrigan Centennial Hall is a focal point of tourism circulation downtown and a gateway to their Sitka 

visit as it is where the majority of cruise ship visitors first arrive from buses or the lightering docks. 

During peak periods, more than 30 buses may be actively shuttling to/from the SSCT, and tour operators 

and taxis also use Harrigan Centennial Hall for drop off and pickup. From Harrigan Centennial Hall, 

visitors may be trying to go to the harbors, parks and playgrounds to the east and/or the downtown 

shops and restaurants to the west, which requires crossing Harbor Drive. Harrigan Centennial Hall also 

hosts several conferences and conventions and shares a parking lot with the adjacent Sitka Public Library 

and Crescent Harbor. 

 Harrigan Centennial circulation is seen as the most significant bottleneck in downtown circulation 

and was consistently cited as a major safety concern by stakeholders and residents interviewed 

based on: 

o Bus loading limitations lead to long queues for tourists waiting to go back to SSCT. 

o Pedestrian activity throughout the Harrigan Centennial Hall parking lot, across driveways 

and along Harbor Drive impacts bus ingress and egress. 

 Upon arrival at Harrigan Centennial Hall, many visitors don’t know where to start: where to go for 

more information on amenities/activities, how to read the Visit Sitka maps and displays, how to get 

to downtown shops and restaurants. 

o The lack of a clear route or crossing location to get from 

Harrigan Centennial Hall across Harbor Drive to Lincoln 

Street compounds this confusion.  

o The purposeful blocking of the ‘tabletop’ between Harrigan 

Centennial parking lots contributes to pedestrian 

circulation confusion, as the canopy blocks the most 

direct pedestrian route to Harbor Drive and downtown 

shops and restaurants. (photo) 

 Staffing is a challenge, for both Harrigan Centennial Hall as well as 

Alaska Coach Tours (ACT). A lack of dedicated staff for crowd 

management such as organizing the bus waiting line, directing 

visitors where to go and overseeing bus loading leads to long lines, 

long wait times and frustration. 

o There is curb space for 3-4 coach buses to be loaded 

concurrently but there is only 1 long line of people waiting to load. Even at busy times, 

generally only one or sometimes two buses are simultaneously being loaded. Wait times 

can be upwards of 30 – 45 minutes. 

o Despite limited pre-staging of passengers, each 

bus can consistently load in less than 5 

minutes. 

 Centennial Hall staff controls operations in the parking lot. 

o ACT only has 4 bus spots on the curb but would 

desire the entirety of the loop and suggest tour 

operators pick up directly at cruise ship terminal 

- however cruise companies, and tour operators 

push back on this idea to reduce congestion at 

Harrigan Centennial Hall. 

 At peak times, there can be upwards of 30 shuttles/buses 

transporting tourists from SSCT to Centennial. 

 Visit Sitka is planning to install additional barricade 

covers/signage saying ‘Heavy Traffic Zone, Use Sidewalk’ for 

key locations such as the Harrigan Centennial parking lot 

walkway to Harbor Drive. 

 The upcoming DOT&PF Seawalk Extension project may be 

an opportunity to expand circulation options from Harrigan 

Centennial Hall. 

Photo 18 - Canopy blocking the 'tabletop' 

Photo 19 - Bus loading line wraps around the back 
of Harrigan Centennial Hall 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  35 

DOWNTOWN PARKING SUMMARY 

Parking Data Collection 

Downtown parking supply and usage was observed and documented at two midday times periods on a 

high volume cruise ship day (Tuesday, August 9th) when Lincoln Street was closed to vehicular traffic, and 

a lower volume cruise ship day (Wednesday, August 10th) at the locations highlighted on Exhibit 9.  

Exhibit 9. Downtown Parking Areas Observed 

 

Not included in this detailed parking study is the available street parking on both sides of Harbor Drive, 

on-street parking on the east side of Lake Street, north of Lincoln Street or A&B Harbor parking just west 

of Totem Square. The Harbors division within CBS notes that long-term harbor parking downtown is a 

challenge for many harbor patrons. 

Table 4 summarizes observed parking supply (inventory) and percent utilization during these snapshots 

in time. As shown, the overall parking utilization during a Lincoln Street closed day is approximately 10-

13% higher than a Lincoln Street open day. This is in part due to 64 parking spaces along Lincoln Street 

being no longer available while Lincoln Street is closed to vehicular traffic. Under these conditions, the 

nearby by Totem Square, Harbor Way and Centennial (Crescent Harbor) parking lots are highly utilized. 

During all time conditions observed, there were at least 10 parking spots available in the Centennial Hall 

main lot. 

Additionally, this data suggests that even on a Lincoln Street closed day, when the number of available 

parking spaces are reduced, there is adequate parking available to meet current demand within the 

downtown area, though not necessarily in every available parking lot at a given time. 

  



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  36 

Table 4. Parking Study Summary  

 

  

 

Lot Inventory 

12:00 PM 2:00 PM 

 Occupied 

Spaces 

% 

Utilization 

Occupied 

Spaces 

% 

Utilization 

L
in

c
o
ln

 S
tr

e
e
t 

C
lo

s
e
d
  

(H
ig

h
 V

o
lu

m
e
 T

o
u
ri

s
t 

D
a
y
) 

Totem Square 14 14 100% 14 100% 

North Side of Lincoln St. 32 - - - - 

South Side of Lincoln St. 32 - - - - 

Harbor Way Lot 54 54 100% 54 100% 

Centennial Hall (Main) 41 27 66% 29 71% 

Centennial Hall (Crescent Harbor) 132 126 95% 119 90% 

Small Lot South of Lincoln St. (West) 10 6 60% 7 70% 

Small Lot South of Lincoln St. (East) 8 6 75% 6 75% 

Total (Excluding Lincoln St.) 259 233 90% 230 89% 

L
in

c
o
ln

 S
tr

e
e
t 

O
p
e
n

  

(L
o
w

e
r 

V
o
lu

m
e
 T

o
u
ri

s
t 

D
a
y
) 

Totem Square 14 13 93% 13 93% 

North Side of Lincoln St. 32 14 44% 14 44% 

South Side of Lincoln St. 32 18 56% 12 38% 

Harbor Way Lot 54 51 94% 42 78% 

Centennial Hall (Main) 41 30 73% 26 63% 

Centennial Hall (Crescent Harbor) 132 117 89% 123 93% 

Small Lot South of Lincoln St. (West) 10 10 100% 8 80% 

Small Lot South of Lincoln St. (East) 8 6 75% 6 75% 

Total 323 259 80% 244 76% 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  37 

Parking Observations and Feedback 

 Though there’s a perception of lack of parking downtown, particularly during Lincoln Street closures, 

the efforts spent this last year to clean up parking lots, including moving The Ride from Crescent 

Harbor to be curbside on Lincoln Street has helped to open up more parking near Crescent Harbor. 

 During the data collection days in August, our field observers noted general ease in finding parking 

downtown within 1-2 blocks of any given destination even during a Lincoln Street closure. 

 Crescent Harbor Parking Lot – A sight distance concern was expressed regarding vehicles departing 

to Lincoln Street from the Cresent Harbor adjacent Centennial Harbor parking lot. When The Ride 

buses are parked on Lincoln Street close to the parking lot driveway, the buses can restrict sight 

distance looking west on Lincoln Street. In order to preserve sight distance, it is suggested the red 

bus lane striping be pulled back to before curb radius, which should still allow space for 2 buses at a 

time while increasing sight distance for departing vehicles. 

 

 

Photo 20 - Centennial Hall / Crescent Harbor driveway to 
Lincoln Street, looking west at The Ride loading zone 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  38 

SITKA TRAFFIC SAFETY SUMMARY 

Existing Traffic and Safety Analysis 

DOT&PF provided geocoded crash data for the entirety of the CBS from 2015-2020, representing the most 

recent six years’ worth of crash data. While crash analyses most typically look at the most recent five 

years of crash data, COVID-19 significantly impacted tourism and travel patterns in 2020, therefore all 

six years’ worth of data has been analyzed. This data was spatially mapped and reviewed for trends.  

Exhibit 10 displays the crash data by severity. Overall, there were 307 crashes in Sitka during the six 

year period, including nine serious injury crashes occurring between 2015-2020 within the City of Sitka. 

Four of these serious injury crashes occurred along streets highlighted in this study: three along Halibut 

Point Road and one along Lincoln Street. Of the three serious injury crashes along Halibut Point Road, 

two of the crashes were single vehicle crashes (run-off-road) and one crash involved a driver failing to 

yield to the right-of-way of a bicycle. The serious crash along Lincoln Street in the downtown area 

involved a pedestrian and is further detailed in Table 5. While the crash data indicates that there were no 

fatal crashes in Sitka, conflicting data fields suggest that some of the crashes coded as serious injury may 

have led to fatalities. 

Exhibit 10. Sitka Crashes by Severity (2015-2020) 

 

 

 

  



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  39 

Downtown Sitka Crash History 

DOT&PF crash data indicates that three 

pedestrian crashes and one bicycle crash 

occurred along Lincoln Street between 2015-

2020, with the approximate locations 

displayed on Exhibit 11.  

Table 5 provides additional information about 

each of these crashes. As noted, all three 

pedestrian involved crashes along Lincoln 

Street cited driver inattention and failing to 

yield to a pedestrian right-of-way.  

 

Table5 – Pedestrian and Bicycle Crash Summary along Lincoln Street (2015-2020) 

Table 6 further summarizes crash types and crash severity at the two highest volume downtown study 

intersections, and along Lincoln Street. As shown in Table 6, 22 crashes occurred at the Halibut Point 

Road-Sawmill Creek Road / Lake Street roundabout between 2015-2020. Most of these crashed were 

property-damage only crashes. Six crashes occurred at Lake Street / Lincoln Street between 2015-2020. 

Five of these crashes were property damage only (PDO) crashes, and the one injury crash involved a 

pedestrian, which was previously summarized in Table 5. 

Table 6 – Study Intersection Crash Summary 

 

Intersection 
Date Severity Action Circumstances 

Lincoln Street (Near 
Couplet at St. Michael’s) 

Aug. 
2017 

Serious 
Injury 

Driver traveling southbound 
through couplet, pedestrian 

crossing Lincoln Street 

Driver failed to 
yield to pedestrian 

right-of-way 

Lincoln Street / 
Barracks Street 

Nov. 
2017 

Injury 
Driver making a northbound left 

turn onto Barracks Street  

Driver failed to 
yield to pedestrian 

right-of-way 

Lincoln Street /         
Lake Street 

June 
2019 

Injury 
Driver making an eastbound left 

turn onto Lake Street  

Driver failed to 
yield to pedestrian 

right-of-way 

Lincoln Street (between 
Jeff Davis Street and 

College Drive) 

Aug. 
2020 

Serious 
Injury 

Vehicle traveling northbound made 
contact with bicycle on roadway  

No additional 
information 

available 

Intersection or 

Segment 

Crash Type Severity Total 

Angle Side-

swipe 

Rear

-end 

Fixed 

Object 

Ped/

Bike 
Other PDO Injury Fatal  

Lincoln St (between Lake 
St. and Katlian St.) 

1 4 2 0 2 3 10 2 0 12 

Lake Street / Lincoln 
Street 

2 0 3 0 1 0 5 1 0 6 

Halibut Point Road-
Sawmill Creek Road / 

Lake Street 
9 0 7 4 0 2 19 3 0 22 

Exhibit 11. Pedestrian and Bicycle Crash Locations on 
Lincoln Street 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  40 

Outer Sitka Crash History 

The most recent six years of crash data provided by DOT&PF was also reviewed in areas beyond the 

downtown study area to identify any crash trends within the larger Sitka area. Two specific trends were 

identified: 

 Pedestrian or bicycle involved crashes in the vicinity of the Halibut Point Road / Peterson Avenue 

intersections, and 

 Turning vehicle crashes and run-off-the-road vehicle crashes on Sawmill Creek Road and Halibut 

Point Road leading to injuries. 

Pedestrian and Bicycle Crashes Near Halibut Point Road / Peterson Avenue 

Pedestrian or bicycle crashes that occurred 

outside of the downtown area are displayed in 

Exhibit 12. As shown, there is a cluster of 

pedestrian and bicycle crashes near the Halibut 

Point Road / Peterson Avenue and Halibut Point 

Road / Brady Street intersections, and at the 

north end of Lake Street. This is an area of high 

pedestrian and bicycle traffic due to the 

proximity to Sitka High School and downtown 

Sitka. Of these crashes, six of the eight resulted 

in injuries, two being a serious injury.  

All three pedestrian or bicycle crashes at the 

intersection of Halibut Point Road / Peterson 

Avenue involved a vehicle making a southbound 

left turn. There is an existing crosswalk across 

Peterson Avenue on the east leg of the Halibut 

Point Road / Peterson Avenue intersection, as 

well as a sidewalk and bicycle lane on both sides 

of Halibut Point Road in this area. DOT&PF is planning an intersection improvement project at Halibut 

Point Road / Peterson Avenue for construction in 2023 which will provide additional illumination at the 

intersection. 

One additional bicycle crash occurred along Halibut Point Road, just north of Kuhnle Drive (not captured 

in Exhibit 12). This crash involved a vehicle traveling southbound making contact with a bicycle on the 

roadway and resulted in an injury.   

Sawmill Creek Road 

Several minor or serious injury crashes were reported along Sawmill Creek Road. One serious injury 

crash occurred at the intersection of Sawmill Creek Road / Price Street. This was an angle crash involving 

two vehicles. Otherwise, all other recorded crashes were minor injury or property damage only. The most 

frequently cited cause of crashes along Sawmill Creek Road involved single-vehicle run-off-the road 

crashes.  

Halibut Point Road 

Many crashes were also reported along Halibut Point Road north of the downtown area. Two turning 

movement crashes were reported at the intersection of Halibut Point Road / Cascade Creek Road. 

Additionally, Halibut Point Road / Davidoff Street, Halibut Point Road / Nicole Drive, and Halibut Point 

Exhibit 12. Pedestrian and Bicycle Crash Locations in 
Outer Sitka  



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  41 

Road / Kincroft Way each had one reported angle crash resulting in an injury. Two rear-end injury 

crashes occurred at Halibut Point Road / Kramer Avenue.  

The most frequently cited cause of crashes along Halibut Point Road involved run-off-road-the road 

vehicles, particularly further to the north along Halibut Point Road. These included two injury run-off-

road crashes that were recorded near Halibut Point State Recreation Site, with one resulting in a serious 

injury.  

A fatal bicycle crash occurred in March 2021 at Halibut Point Road / 2600 Block (driveway) involving a 

bicycle being struck by a vehicle. Additional crash information, including cause of the crash is currently 

not available.  

Summer 2022 Safety Observations 

 At the Lake Street / Lincoln Street intersection, prolonged delays experienced by pedestrians not 

utilizing the push button and vehicle delays due to other left-turning vehicles leads to frustration 

and some delayed pedestrians and vehicles moving through the intersection out of turn. 

 CBS Emergency services staff noted that there has been at least one pedestrian involved collision at 

the Lake Street / Lincoln Street intersection in Summer 2022. 

 Lack of direction or a defined route from Harrigan Centennial Hall to the Lincoln Street corridor 

leads to a high volume of pedestrians crossing Harbor Drive outside of an existing crosswalk, which 

frustrates vehicle drivers, and can impact coach bus ingress and egress from Harrigan Centennial 

Hall – this area is a safety concern for vehicles, bus drivers and pedestrians alike. 

 DOT&PF crash data shows a trend of pedestrian and bicycle involved crashes along Halibut Point 

Road between Peterson Avenue and Brady Street. Pedestrian and bicycle safety in the area will be 

improved through the DOT&PF planned 2023 intersection improvement project. 

 Outside of downtown Sitka, the most frequent type of vehicle crashes on Sawmill Creek Road and 

Halibut Point Road involved vehicles running off the roadway, with some turning vehicle crashes also 

resulting in injuries. 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  42 

PEDESTRIAN CROSSING ANALYSIS 

In addition to the key Sitka intersections already discussed, six additional locations were identified for 

further pedestrian crossing analyses considering: 

 Observations of pedestrian and vehicular interactions 

 Connectivity considerations and usage of crossing 

 Pedestrian volumes 

 Crash history 

Lake Street at Seward Street 

Currently, there is no striped crosswalk or crossing signage provided on Lake Street near Seward Street, 

though historically, a crosswalk was provided from Seward Street to Etolin Way, across Lake Street, as 

shown in Exhibit 13. Businesses in the area noted regular pedestrian activity in this area, in part due to 

it being the most direct route from the Aspen Suites hotel to Lincoln Street. The next closest crosswalks 

are located approximately 250 feet to the south at the Lincoln Street / Lake Street intersection or 550 feet 

to the north at the Halibut Point Road - Sawmill Creek Road / Lake Street roundabout.  

Exhibit 13. Historical Lake Street Crosswalk at Seward Street (Google Earth, 2011) 

 

Pedestrian and vehicle volumes were collected at this intersection which showed anywhere from 5 to 28 

pedestrians crossing Lake Street an hour from 8:00 AM to 6:00 PM, with pedestrian volumes exceeding 20 

pedestrian crossings per hour during at least five hours of the day. As shown in Exhibit 14, hourly 

pedestrian volumes are somewhat higher on a higher volume tourism day when Lincoln Street is closed. 

Even on lower volume tourism days, pedestrian crossing volumes exceed 20 per hour five hours of the 

day. 

DOT&PF crash data shows two vehicular crashes have occurred in this area, one involving a parked 

vehicle and vehicle-to-vehicle head on collision during icy conditions, but no history of pedestrian or 

bicycle involved crashes.  

Due to vehicle queues from the Lincoln Street / Lake Street intersection frequently extending through this 

location, there are not consistent gaps in traffic for crossing pedestrians. 

 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  43 

Exhibit 14. Lake Street Pedestrian Crossings near Seward Street 

 

  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

8:00 9:00 10:00 11:00 12:00 1:00 2:00 3:00 4:00 5:00

P
e

d
e

st
ri

a
n

 C
ro

ss
in

g
s 

P
e

r 
H

o
u

r

Time of Day

Lower Tourism Volume

(Lincoln Open) Day

Higher Tourism Volume

(Lincoln Closed) Day



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  44 

Midblock Harbor Drive (in front of Harrigan Centennial Hall)  

Significant pedestrian crossing activity was observed on 

Harbor Drive in front of Harrigan Centennial Hall, 

midblock between the Lake Street / Lincoln Street 

intersection and the Maksoutoff Street crosswalk. 

Pedestrian crossing counts were collected, and daily 

pedestrian crossings are reported on Figure 5.  

Cumulatively, more than 3,000 pedestrians per day cross 

Harbor Drive along the approximately 725 feet distance 

between the crosswalks provided at Lake Street / Lincoln 

Street and Harbor Drive / Maksoutoff Street. More 

pedestrians chose to cross Harbor Drive midbock daily 

than utilize the existing crosswalk at Maksoutoff Street. 

As shown in Exhibit 15, more than 200 pedestrians an 

hour crossed Harbor Drive every hour from 9:00 AM to 5:00 PM. 

While the DOT&PF crash data showed no history of pedestrian and vehicle crashes along this segment, 

only one vehicle crash involving a sideswiped parked vehicle, regular conflicts between pedestrians and 

vehicles along Harbor Drive was cited by stakeholders and residents as very concerning. 

Exhibit 15. Harbor Drive Hourly Pedestrians Crossings in front of Harrigan Centennial Hall 

 

 

 

  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

8:00 9:00 10:00 11:00 12:00 1:00 2:00 3:00 4:00 5:00

P
e

d
e

st
ri

a
n

 C
ro

ss
in

g
s 

P
e

r 
H

o
u

r

Time of Day

Southbound

Northbound

Photo 21 - Pedestrians cross Harbor Drive at the 
north Harrigan Centennial Hall Driveway 



H:
\2

7\
27

73
5 

- C
ity

 o
f S

itk
a 

Tr
af

fic
 S

tu
dy

\r
ep

or
t\f

ig
s\

27
73

5_
Fi

gu
re

s.
dw

g 
   

  D
ec

 2
2,

 2
02

2 
- 9

:0
6a

m
 - 

 m
m

an
ni

on
   

   
La

yo
ut

 T
ab

: F
ig

ur
e 

5 
- H

ar
bo

r E
xh

ib
it

Harbor Drive Pedestrian Crossing Activity
Daily Pedestrian Counts

Sitka, Alaska 5

City of Sitka Traffic Sudy 27735

Figure

350 - 400
300 - 350
<300

400 - 450 
>550
500 - 550
450 - 500

Lincoln St

Katlian St

Harbor Way

Seward St

Barracks St

Am
erican St

Lake St

Harbor Dr

Lincoln St

M
aksoutoff St

Harrigan
Centennial Hall

~725'

1,989 1,055

5,478

3,113

2,153
186

3,023

PEDESTRIAN CROSSINGS BY ZONE
X,XXX

PEDESTRIAN CROSSINGS BY LOCATION

N



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  46 

Harbor Drive / Maksoutoff Street 

The striped crosswalk at Maksoutouff Street is the only existing 

marked crosswalk on Harbor Drive other than the crossing 

opportunities provided at the Lake Street / Lincoln Street traffic 

signal. Vehicles are traveling downhill off the Harbor Bridge 

(northbound on Harbor Drive), leading to higher rates of speed. 

Adjacent on-street parking at this location was observed to impact 

sight lines and driver yielding behavior (photo). 

Pedestrian count data at this location shows that just over 2,300 

pedestrians a day cross Harbor Drive at Maksoutoff Street, with 

hourly pedestrian crossing volumes exceeding 100 pedestrian 

crossings per hour every hour 9:00 AM to 5:00 PM on a high volume 

cruise ship tourism day. 

 

DOT&PF crash data showed one crash at this intersection, which 

involved a parked vehicle but no pedestrians.  

Exhibit 16. Harbor Drive at Maksoutoff Street Hourly Pedestrian Crossing Volumes 

 

 

  

22

135

195

354

399 392

423

234

127

58

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

8:00 9:00 10:00 11:00 12:00 1:00 2:00 3:00 4:00 5:00

P
e

d
e

st
ri

a
n

 C
ro

ss
in

g
s 

P
e

r 
H

o
u

r

Time of Day

Photo 22 – Parked vehicle restricts 
pedestrian and approaching vehicle 
sight distance 

 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  47 

Harbor Way 
Many pedestrians that reach the west end of Lincoln Street then try to navigate back to Harrigan 

Centennial Hall via Harbor Way, as shown on Exhibit 17. The natural route a pedestrian follows 

necessitates five road crossings, in part due to lack of sidewalk on the north side Harbor Way near 

Lincoln Street, and the skew and wide intersection width near the lightering facility under Harbor Drive 

bridge.  

While pedestrian volumes and were not explicitly counted in this location, the indirect routing through 

this area was identified as an opportunity for improving pedestrian experience while in downtown Sitka, 

as noted on Exhibit 17. DOT&PF crash data showed no history of pedestrian and vehicle crashes along 

this segment.   

Exhibit 17. Harbor Way Pedestrian Routing from Lincoln Street to Harrigan Centennial Hall 

   

The upcoming DOT&PF Seawalk Extension project, shown in Exhibit 18, may be an opportunity to 

expand walkway options east of Harbor Drive, to provide more direct pedestrian routing between Lincoln 

Street and Harrigan Centennial Hall. If completed, pedestrians traveling to/from Harrigan Centennial Hall 

would not need to cross Harbor Drive or Way to reach Lincoln Street.    



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  48 

 

Exhibit 18. DOT&PF Seawalk Extension Concept Plan (CBS) 

 

Raptor Way / Sawmill Creek Road 

The Raptor Center is located just under a mile east of 

downtown Sitka and is a primary tourist activity. Many 

tourists on foot or bicycle were observed to travel along 

Sawmill Creek Road and through the Sitka National 

Historical Park trails to reach the Raptor Center via Raptor 

Way. No crosswalk or pedestrian signing is provided at the 

Sawmill Creek Road / Raptor Way intersection, though 

there is a striped crosswalk across Sawmill Creek Road 

approximately 850 feet to the south at Jarvis Street (where 

a nature trail connects to the Sitka National Historical 

Park) and 1500 feet to the west at Indian River Road.  

As shown in Exhibit 19, pedestrian crossing volumes 

across Sawmill Creek Road exceed 20 crossings per hour 5 

hours of the day (from 11:00 AM to 3:00 PM). 

 

 Photo 23 - Raptor Way at Sawmill Creek Road 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  49 

Exhibit 19. Sawmill Creek Road at Raptor Way Hourly Pedestrian Crossings 

 

In 2019, the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), in coordination with the National Park Service 

(NPS) and DOT&PF completed a safety audit along Sawmill Creek Road in the vicinity of the Raptor 

Center. The safety audit also noted evidence of a high volume crossing location for pedestrians and 

suggested evaluating this location for high-visibility crosswalk markings and signing, advance yielding to 

pedestrian signage, or further electrical treatments such as rectangular rapid-flashing beacons (RRFB) or 

Pedestrian Hybrid Beacon (PHB). A 2021 update to the report noted that DOT&PF installed pedestrian 

warning signs approximately 300 feet in advance of Raptor Way on each direction of Sawmill Creek Road.  

DOT&PF crash data showed no history of pedestrian or vehicle crashes at this location.   

0 0

14

20

25

32
33

20

4

0

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

8:00 9:00 10:00 11:00 12:00 1:00 2:00 3:00 4:00 5:00

P
e

d
e

st
ri

a
n

 C
ro

ss
in

g
s 

P
e

r 
H

o
u

r

Time of Day



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  50 

Fortress of the Bear / Sawmill Creek Road 

The Fortress of the Bear facility is located approximately 10 miles south of Sitka downtown and has 

experienced increased activity with the cruise ship tourism industry growth. Due to increased shuttle van 

and bus drop off activity in the loop immediately in front of the facility, Fortress moved their primary 

parking area to a leased gravel lot on the south side of Sawmill Creek Road several years ago, as shown in 

Exhibit 20. The relocation of the primary parking area has led to an increase in pedestrian activity across 

Sawmill Creek Road. There is also a nearby The Ride stop on the south side of Sawmill Creek Road.   

Pedestrian counts, collected on a low volume tourism day and a higher volume tourism day showed a 

range of 165 to 362 daily pedestrian crossings between the parking lot and the Fortress facility depending 

on scale of tourist visitors on a given day. Additionally, as shown on Exhibit 21, hourly pedestrian 

volumes exceed 20 pedestrian crossings per hour 3 to 6 hours per day.  

While field observations indicate relatively low conflicting vehicular and pedestrian crossing volumes, 

formalizing a pedestrian crossing would help to improve connectivity and circulation between the parking 

area and Fortress of the Bear facility. 

DOT&PF crash data showed no history of pedestrian or vehicle collisions in this area.  

Fortress of the Bear desires for the CBS and DOT&PF to coordinate the following transportation 

improvements: 

 A crosswalk between their (leased) parking area and front access. 

 A driveway curb cut on the southside of Sawmill Creek aligned with their north side loop in order for 

shuttles to safely turn around and re-access their property without having to make multiple turning 

movements. 

Exhibit 20. Fortress of the Bear Overview 

 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  51 

Exhibit 21. Sawmill Creek Road Pedestrian Crossings at Fortress of the Bear 

 
 

 

Photo 24 – Pedestrians cross Sawmill Creek Road from the Fortress parking area to the main 
facility 

12

48

39

32

15

9 10

0

6

28

57

79

48

72 72

0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

9:00 10:00 11:00 12:00 1:00 2:00 3:00 4:00

P
e

d
e

st
ri

a
n

 C
ro

ss
in

g
s 

P
e

r 
H

o
u

r

Time of Day

Lower Tourism Volume

(Lincoln Open) Day

Higher Tourism Volume

(Lincoln Closed) Day



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  52 

  

Photo 25 – The Fortress desires a driveway/curb cut on the south side of Sawmill Creek Road for 
ease of drop-off vehicles departing the Fortress loop to enter the parking area 

 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  53 

ADDITIONAL TRAFFIC RELATED FEEDBACK 

 Many local stakeholders noted the lack of a bike path on Halibut Point Road and pointed to the 

Sawmill Creek Road pathway as a good example to encourage walking and biking.  

o Multiple residents noted that the increased bus traffic on Halibut Point Road feels less 

safe for biking on the roadway shoulder. 

o Peak hour traffic counts collected on Halibut Point Road at Peterson Avenue and at 

Cascade Creek Road show 10 to 20 bicyclists an hour utilize Halibut Point Road. 

 Additional outdoor seating space and lighting downtown along Lincoln Street was requested as 

amenities that would further enhance the streetscape.  

 Occasional midday public restroom observations were made at facilities near Crescent Harbor and 

along Lincoln Street – No external queues extending outside the facilities were observed. 

 A lack of clarity in City code/enforceability of scooters and E-bikes on sidewalks complicates 

downtown circulation and enforceability. There are an increasing number of tour operators renting 

these devices adjacent to downtown. 

 

 

Photo 26. Electric scooters and pedestrians share the Lake Street sidewalk 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  54 

CONCLUSION AND POTENTIAL TREATMENTS 

The traffic data and observations presented in this memorandum, in combination with community 

member and planning commission feedback, will be used as the basis for further intersection and 

pedestrian crossing analysis, cruise ship event management plans, and wayfinding to develop project 

recommendations that will be documented in a forthcoming Traffic Study Report. 

Specific elements that may be further explored include: 

 Further analysis and coordination with DOT&PF regarding improvements to the Lake Street / 

Lincoln Street intersection to address high delays, extensive queueing and to improve pedestrian 

safety. Potential solutions might include: 

o Addition of left-turn lanes to add turning capacity and remove turn vehicles from through 

lanes 

o Pedestrian phasing such as recall calls a pedestrian phase without button push by time 

of day or an exclusive pedestrian phase where all crossings happen at the same time 

o Simplified phasing in combination with Lincoln Street permanent reconfiguration, 

potentially to one-way vehicle travel 

o Flagger control during peak periods for responsive traffic flow and pedestrian crossings 

o Next steps: screen feasible alternatives and conduct detailed traffic analysis and 

pedestrian modeling; develop intersection concepts and cost estimates 

 Treatment recommendations for addressing extensive pedestrian crossing activity on Harbor Drive in 

front of Harrigan Centennial Hall and bus loading/unloading operations. Potential solutions might 

include: 

o More clear active wayfinding directing pedestrians to crossings, perhaps reinforced with 

crossing guards 

o Addition of a midblock crossing, perhaps with enhanced crossing treatments 

o Enhanced treatments, curb extensions and restriction of adjacent parking to improve 

sight distance and visibility of existing crossing at Maksoutoff Street 

o Flaggers to facilitate bus ingress/egress 

o Facilitate multiple simultaneous bus loading/unloading and optimized queueing with 

crowd control staff 

o Next steps: coordinate facility and bus operators; crosswalk evaluation; develop and 

assess crossing concepts and locations; develop wayfinding implementation plan 

 Potential permanent infrastructure improvements on Lincoln Street and in the downtown core in lieu 

of or in conjunction with temporary closures. Improvements might include: 

o Refining the visitor volume threshold and timing of temporary closures 

o Permanent reconfiguration as a one-way roadway 

o Permanent reconfiguration as shared street2 to provide additional space for pedestrians 

o Seasonal traffic control features to reinforce pedestrian oriented areas 

o Next steps: conduct assessment of pedestrian flows based on cruise ship passengers; 

conduct a study to develop and screen Lincoln Street concepts; develop concept designs 

and cost estimates 

 Further pedestrian crossing analysis and pedestrian treatment recommendations on Sawmill Creek 

Road at the Raptor Center and Fortress of the Bear. 

o Addition of crossing treatments such as cross walk striping and signage at both locations 

o Next steps: conduct crosswalk evaluations and develop concepts 

 Improvements to pedestrian circulation and wayfinding throughout downtown Sitka. 

o Especially to and from Centennial Hall, and along Harbor Drive 

o Reinstitution of a crossing of Harbor Drive at Seward Street potentially with curb 

extensions, cross walk striping and signing 

 
2 https://nacto.org/publication/urban-street-design-guide/streets/commercial-shared-street/ 



City & Borough of Sitka  2022 Traffic Study 

Kittelson & Associates  55 

o Next steps: develop wayfinding assessment and recommendation plan; crossing 

evaluation 

 Develop and refine cruise ship traffic control plan including both passive and active pedestrian and 

vehicle guidance and control. 

o Next steps: create interorganizational task force; expand detailed operations plan for 

varied cruise ship intensities 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Appendix A 

Stakeholder Outreach Summary 



 

HUDDLE / Kittelson & Associates  1 

Stakeholder Outreach Summary Memorandum  

 

 

STAKEHOLDER OUTREACH SUMMARY 
Stakeholder outreach focused on the 2022 cruise ship season and the Lincoln Street closures 

was conducted in parallel with traffic data collection in August 2022 to give the team a genuine 

view into the real experiences of stakeholders. The project team received input and feedback 

through a variety of methods including: 

◼ Stakeholder Interviews 

◼ Community Feedback Line 

Following is a summary of the outreach tools, process, and major takeaway themes. 

Stakeholder Interview Summary 

Stakeholder interview participants were identified by CBS staff and the project team. 

Participants were intended to be representative of a variety of individuals, businesses, agencies, 

and organizations who play a role in tourism, CBS operations and those impacted by traffic.  

CBS Maintenance & Operations, 

Buildings/Grounds/Parks 

Cruise Line Agencies of Alaska 

Sitka Police Department Sitka Sound Cruise Terminal 

Sitka Fire Department Alaska Coach Tours 

State of Alaska Department of 

Transportation & Public Facilities 

Visit Sitka/Sitka Chamber of Commerce 

Harrigan Centennial Hall CBS Harbors 

101 South Capitol Boulevard, Suite 600 

Boise, ID 83702 

P 208.338.2683  

September 13, 2022      Project# 27735 

To: Amy Ainslie, Planning Director  

City and Borough of Sitka 

100 Lincoln Street 

Sitka, AK 99835 

From: Holly Spoth-Torres, Andrew Ooms, PE; Claire Dougherty, PE  

CC: PTS - Dan Kirsch, PE and Jenny Liljedahl, PE,  

RE: City of Sitka Traffic Study 



City of Sitka, Alaska  Traffic Study  

HUDDLE / Kittelson & Associates  2 

Interview Methodology 

Interviews were conducted by consultant staff. Following a brief overview of the purpose and 

goals of the Traffic Study, interviewers asked participants for their feedback on a variety of 

topics and questions, ranging from stakeholders’ opinions on traffic and pedestrian circulation 

at various locations in Sitka, to their opinions on the 2022 Lincoln Street closures. All formal 

interviews were completed between August 8th and August 18th. In addition to formally 
identified and scheduled interviews, the project team spent two (2) days observing traffic 

patterns (August 9th and August 10th) and while doing so, completed dozens of informal 

interviews with visitors, downtown merchants, and staff of major tourist destinations. 

Major Themes  

Lincoln Street Closure 

Overall, the logistics of the Lincoln Street closure is going very well for the agencies and 

organizations responsible for implementing the daily closures (CBS operations staff, emergency 

and safety personnel, and Visit Sitka). There is a communications protocol in place to respond 

to closure schedule adjustments due to shifts cruise ship schedules and estimated passenger 

counts, and the various departments and organizations are coordinating successfully. Agencies 

and organizations indicate that the closure was a little rocky at the beginning, but as residents 

and businesses become used to the process and know what to expect, things operate much, 

much more smoothly. Specific ideas from CBS and Visit Sitka staff for future adjustments 

include: 

◼ More wayfinding and informational signs are needed on barriers to direct pedestrians and 

vehicles during closures. 

◼ Consider more permanent infrastructure to assist with closures and circulation. 

Informal discussions with merchants and locals indicated that at first, many were very 

skeptical of the Lincoln Street closure. However, after implementation of the closure many say 

that they have experienced very few negative impacts. Any impacts they do experience are 

outweighed by the huge benefits of pedestrian safety and an improved atmosphere on Lincoln 

Street. With few exceptions, businesses that provide services to local Sitkans are not 

experiencing significant impacts (banks, pharmacy). Businesses who serve locals, who 
indicated they were experiencing impacts due to the closure, generally didn’t have an alternate 

parking or access point to their business. Additional, specific comments from informal 

interviews include: 

◼ Most were glad that the threshold to close Lincoln Street was raised to 5,000. 

◼ Some feel that 5,000 passenger count is still too low to close Lincoln Street. 

◼ Many merchants would prefer visitors to be on a sidewalk and closer to their business, 

than in the middle of the street. 

◼ An 11 AM closure time would significantly help delivery drivers needing access to Lincoln 

Street businesses. 

◼ There should be more seating provided within the closure space. 

◼ Some loved the restrooms, some did not. There was not an overall indication of consensus 

either way, however, it appears that the current restroom locations are not ideal for 

everyone. 



City of Sitka, Alaska  Traffic Study 

HUDDLE / Kittelson & Associates  3 

Lake Street & Lincoln Street Intersection 

Almost every stakeholder interview of Sitkans, both formal and informal, expressed concern 

and frustration about the Lake Street & Lincoln Street intersection. The intersection is often 

unavoidable to get to and from services. Motorists traveling southbound on Lake Street who 
make a left turn from Lake Street onto Lincoln Street cause congestion and delays because the 

left turn and through lane are a shared lane. Public safety personnel indicate that emergency 

response times could be impacted with the congestion in the area. Interviewees provided many 

suggestions to remedy the delays including removing the Harbor Drive street parking in front of 

Stereo North to provide room for a through lane and a variety of signal timing changes for both 

vehicles and pedestrians. 

Pedestrian Circulation 

Almost all interview participants stated that with increased 

numbers of pedestrians Downtown, more emphasis needs to 

be placed on wayfinding. Many agree that the new Visit Sitka 

wayfinding signs are beautiful and an amazing start, but the 

high flow of tourists who are unfamiliar with Sitka need even 
more directional assistance and general orientation. 

Interviewees expressed frustration and concern about the 

congestion and confusion of pedestrians at Harrigan 

Centennial Hall because visitor safety and experience is 

diminished. Visitors often don’t know where to go, what to 

do, or how to find Downtown or their tour excursion. Specific 

comments heard multiple times include: 

◼ Pedestrian circulation improvements should equitably 

distribute people throughout downtown 

◼ Pedestrians frequently cross Harbor Drive in locations 

that do not have a crosswalk. Consideration should be 

given to add additional safe crossings. 

◼ Pedestrian circulation through the Harrigan Centennial 

Hall parking lot and across Harbor Drive impacts coach 

bus ingress/egress 

Downtown Parking 

Some interviewees, both formal and informal, discussed availability of downtown parking as a 

concern. However, other interviewees stated that though they had previously thought the 

Lincoln Street closure would create a lack of downtown parking, that overtime they have not 
experienced it as an issue.  Many indicated that every time they look for parking, they are 

successful finding a spot. Multiple interview participants indicated that increased parking 

enforcement has helped to ensure vehicles are following the rules, thus freeing up more 

parking. Additionally, most indicated that the relocation of RIDE to Lincoln Street is a 

successful change, freeing up 10 spots in the Crescent Harbor parking lot. 

Community Feedback Line 

CBS and Visit Sitka have established a Community Feedback line that gives anyone the 

opportunity to ask questions or provide feedback about the Lincoln Street Closures. The line 
(both telephone [907-747-4088] and email[sitkatourism@gmail.com]) is monitored by Visit 

Sitka staff and is reported monthly to the CBS staff. 

Between May 13 and August 15 forty-five comments were received.  



City of Sitka, Alaska  Traffic Study 

HUDDLE / Kittelson & Associates  4 

Related to traffic and the Lincoln Street Closure the comment log indicates very similar 

comments both positive and negative that the project team heard during the stakeholder 

interviews including: 

– Comments in support of the Lincoln Street closure and commending the CBS for 

developing a tourism plan to accommodate increased visitation. 

– Comments that don’t support the Lincoln Street closure because of the impacts to 

businesses. 

– Concerns with traffic congestion and delays at the Lake Street and Lincoln Street 

intersection. 

– Concerns with tour bus noise and pollution. 

– Concerns about the location and operating hours of the restrooms. 

– Concerns about pedestrians not using crosswalks when crossing Harbor Drive 

– Comments suggesting that the timing of the Lincoln Street closure could be reduced 

during the day. 

– Many comments about needing more trash cans on Lincoln Street 

A complete comment log can be found in the Appendix. 

 



 

 

 

Appendix A 

Community Feedback Line Summaries 



Date Source Concern Type Submitter Type Summary

5/13/2022 VS Staff Email Lincoln St. Closure Resident Resident concerned that the street is deserted 
and needs some vibrancy 

5/15/2022 CBS Staff Email Maksoutoff Restrooms Resident Resident concerned that restroooms were 
going to be located on the Harbor Drive side of 
Maksoutoff Street.

5/18/2022 VS Staff Phone Lincoln St. Restrooms Business Manager Business concerned with the location of the 
restrooms on Lincoln St. changing the 
character of the street and the view in front of 
their business and would like alternate 
locations to be considered.

5/21/2022 Sitka Tourism Email Shore Excursion Cruise Visitor Cruise visitor's perception that a tour she went 
on was not following health safety prodicals

5/23/2022 Feedback Line Unknown Unknown None

5/23/2022 Feedback Line Lincoln St. Closure Business Owner Business Owner concerned with the conjestion 
with traffic at Lake and Lincoln intersection

6/3/2022 VS Email Traffic Light@ Lincoln & 
Lake

Resident Resident concerned with the conjestion with 
traffic at Lake and Lincoln intersection

6/5/2022 Shared with VS Staff Lincoln St. Closure Business Owner Business owner concerned about tar from road 
patch being tracked in to his store.

6/7/2022 Shared with VS Staff Lincoln St. Restrooms Resident Resident did not understand why the Lincoln 
St. restrooms were not open for Porch Fest, a 
community event on 6/4/22

2022 Sitka Tourism Feedback Tracking

May 13-July 18, 2022



Date Source Concern Type Submitter Type Summary

6/8/2022 Shared with VS Staff/Rover Cruise Passenger 
Support Services/ & 
Roving Information Staff 
program

Business Owner Business owners wanted to commend Visit 
Sitka and the City for development of the 
Cruise Passenger Support Services/ & Roving 
Information Staff program.  They stated that 
this program is so wonderful and has been 
needed in the community.  

6/8/2022 Sitka Tourism Email Traffic Light@ Lincoln & 
Lake, restrooms on 
Lincoln Street

Resident Resident concerned with the conjestion and 
traffic at Lake and Lincoln intersection & 
resident thinks potable restrooms shouldn't be 
on Lincoln Street.

6/8/2022 Sitka Tourism Email Commending community 
on tourism plan

Resident Commending the community on putting 
together a tourism plan to manage visitors.  
Commented on that the city should put the 
decorative flags back up on the street lamps 
and barricades need covers.

6/8/2022 Sitka Tourism Email Concerned about the 
shuttle buses &  e-bikes

Resident Resident doesn't like the shuttle buses on the 
road or the e-bikes or bikes at all on the cross 
trail.

6/9/2022 Sitka Tourism Email Traffic Light@ Lincoln & 
Lake

Resident Resident wanted to share a possible solution to 
the traffic problem at Lake and Lincoln Street 
intersection. Suggested that a left turn lane be 
added with a left arrow.

6/9/2022 Feedback Line Barricades on Lincoln 
Street

Resident Resident doesn't think there should be 
barricades blocking Lincoln Street

6/9/2022 Sitka Tourism Email Traffic Light@ Lincoln & 
Lake

Resident Resident wanted to share a possible solution to 
the traffic problem at Lake and Lincoln Street 
intersection. Suggested that a left turn lane be 
added with a left arrow.

6/9/2022 Sitka Tourism Email General Tourism Resident Resident is negative about tourism, doesn't like 
change

6/10/2022 Feedback Line Lincon Street Closure Resident Resident gave positive feedback about 
downtown closure after initially expecting the 
worst.

6/13/2022 Sitka Tourism Email & 
Feedback line

Trash receptacles in 
downtown

Resident Resident made suggestions about  replacement 
of grey trash receptacles in downtown with 
brown bear proof cans.



Date Source Concern Type Submitter Type Summary

6/13/2022 Sitka Tourism Email Lincoln Street Closure Business Owner Business owner is concerned that the street 
closure is hurting local business because 
people walking in the closed street are not 
being encouraged to go into the stores.

6/14/2022 Feedback Line Lack of enough trash 
cans in the right places

Business More trash cans near food booths, especially 
between The Cellar and City Hall.

6/14/2022 Feedback Line Lincoln Street Closure Resident Resident gave his thoughts on benefits to the 
City overall on the closure of Lincoln Street.  
He didn't think it was overall profitable for the 
city, but didn't mind it.  He was not crazy about 
the portable restrooms either, but had no other 
useful alternative.

6/15/2022 Feedback Line Lack of enough trash 
cans in the right places

Business More trash cans near food booths, especially 
between The Cellar and City Hall.

6/21/2022 Feedback Line Lincoln St. Closure Resident  He thinks closing off Lincoln Street is not 
necessary and more attention needs to be 
focused on the fishing fleet.

6/22/2022 Visit Sitka Phone Line Visitors not using 
crosswalks at Harrigan 
Centennial 

Resident Visitors not using crosswalks at Harrigan 
Centennial when crossing Harbor Drive.

6/22/2022 VS Staff Email General Tourism International Visitor Visitor loved trail system in Sitka.

6/23/2022 Sitka Tourism Email Portable restrooms on 
Lincoln Street

Business Owner Business owner wanted signage on portable 
restrooms so that visitors could find them 
better.

6/26/2022 Sitka Tourism Email Traffic Light@ Lincoln & 
Lake and parking @ HCH

Resident  The taxi stand should not be 24-hours, so that 
parking spaces can be used at other times.  
Changing the traffic lanes at Lake & Lincoln 
Streets to a left turn lane and straight ahead 
with a right turn lane would help traffic 
congestion.

6/28/2022 Spoke to VS Sandy White Lincoln Street Closure Business Owner Suggested that end times for closures should 
reflect the times the ships leave.



Date Source Concern Type Submitter Type Summary

6/29/2022 Spoke to VS Sandy White No way to get to and 
from the airport

Visitors The visitor center regularly receives calls 
regularly concerning how to get to and from 
the airport. The staff has received reports of a 
number of visitors being left stranded, having 
to walk to and from town with luggage.  Locals 
have witnessed visitors walking to town after 
the midnight flight using the frieght carts to get 
their luggage to downtown hotels.

7/1/2022 Feedback Line Lincoln Street Closure Business Owner Business owner likes street closure and would 
like to see more activities in the street during 
closure.

7/4/2022 Spoke to Visit Service 
Coordinator

Lincoln Street Closure, 
Garbage

Business Owner Business owner said that street was trashy after 
the July 3rd Cruise Ship traffic.  She wondered 
if on heavy days like that if the street could be 
sweeped.

7/8/2022 Spoke to Visit Service 
Coordinator

Lincoln Street Closure Business Owner Business owner asked if there was a planning 
committee formed for the planning of next 
years summer closures and activities.  She 
would like to particpate and help.

7/11/2022 Sitka Tourism Email & 
Feedback line

Garbage Resident Resident is following up on his request of 
6/13/22, where he requested the gray trash 
cans in downtown be replaced with the brown 
metal cans.

7/13/2022 Spoke to Visit Service 
Coordinator

Lincoln Street Closure Business Owner Business owner is still concerned that the street 
closure is hurting local business.  He was not 
happy with the closure on the 13th.  He thought 
it should not have happened.



Date Source Concern Type Submitter Type Summary

7/14/2022 Sitka Tourism Email Lincoln Street Closure, 
Pedestrians @ HCH, 
Parking 

Business It should be noted that on many street closure 
days that the street is nearly empty by 3 pm. 
Opening the street to traffic at that time would 
benefit businesses needing to load or unload 
product.
Flaggers or signs are needed to keep people 
from jaywalking in front of the HCH.  Also, the 
3-hour parking should be increased to give 
people/business owners and employees more 
flexibility.  

7/14/2022 Feedback line Lincoln Street Closure, 
Restrooms, Cell Phone 
Interuption, 
Transporation

Resident Caller had four main issues:  Lincoln Street 
closure times are too long, restrooms should be 
open for every event, ships cause cell phone 
interuption, big buses tear up the roads and 
ships and buses should pay for upkeep.

7/18/2022 Feedback line Transportation Resident Unknown caller from 7/14/22 called back with 
more concerns.  The focus was on 
transportation, specifically expanding The Ride 
bus service to the weekends, and to address 
needs of the small boat cruise business.

7/18/2022 CBS Planning Department Pedestrians @ HCH Business Owner Business owner stated that signage is needed 
for directions to crosswalks at Lincoln and 
Maksoutoff coming out of Centennial Hall. 
Tourists jaywalking like crazy in front of 
Harrigan.







***

***
This Strategic Marketing Plan is a draft. We are seeking feedback from

stakeholders and community members. Please submit comments at
bit.ly/visitsitka2025-27 by Monday, March 24th at 4:00 pm.

3-Year Strategic Marketing Plan

2025-2027

Prepared by The Greater Sitka Chamber of Commerce as Visit Sitka,
in partnership with Element Agency



Table of Contents 











 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



ā

• 
ā

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 



• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 
• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 



• 

• 
• 

 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 
• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 
• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 
• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

o 

o 

o 

o 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 
• 

• 



• 

o 

o 

o 

• 

o 

o 

o 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 


	Tourism Commission Packet 3.13.25.pdf
	TC 031325.pdf
	2025-06-2025 Meeting Minutes_Sitka Tourism Commission.pdf
	Memo_New Business Items 3.13.25.pdf
	TTF Draft TBMP.pdf
	Appendix D
	01a Sitka Draft TBMP 3.11.2024
	Marine Tour Operators, Fishing Charters, Water Taxis and Kayak Tours               10
	Downtown and Retail                                                                         11
	Sitka’s Tourism Best Management Practices (TBMP) Program
	Introduction
	General Agreements for All TBMP Partners
	TBMP Program Contacts- TBD— Add contacts
	Flightseeing (Fixed Wing, Floatplanes & Helicopter):
	Flightseeing operations are subject to Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) regulations and operational requirements. Mt. Edgecumbe landing trips are also subject to US Forest Service permit requirements. Although the following guidelines are designe...
	Walking, Hiking, Bicycling Tours
	Commercial use of public trails may be permitted on some municipal, State Parks, National Forest, and National Park lands. All commercial use of public land requires permitting.
	Permitted use: Commercial operators are responsible for understanding public land ownership and obtaining permits from each agency. Operators agree to follow group size regulations and avoid crowding on trails.
	Marine tour operators and charter/sportfishing operators will take all available and reasonable steps to minimize impacts to coastal residents and other vessel operators. Vessel operators will strive to minimize the impacts of their wake on other wate...



	2024 Lincoln Street Closure Plan.pdf
	Assembly Memo_3.26.24_Summer Operations.pdf
	LSC TCP & Barricade Locations.pdf
	Downtown Streets Memo_Draft for CBS Review_AEA.pdf
	Barricade Cover Locations PDF.pdf


	STTP Excerpt_Lincoln Street.pdf

	Traffic Data and Observations Memoradum_FINAL.pdf
	Visit Sitka 3 Year Marketing Plan 2025-27 DRAFT for Comment.pdf



